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Thursday, 30 January 1947 

INTERNATIONAL MILITARY TRIBUNAL 
FOR THE FAR EAST 

Court House of the Tribunal 
War Ministry Building 

Tokyo, Japan 

The Tribunal met, pursuant to adjournment, 

at 0930. 

Appearances: 

For the Tribunal, same as before with the 

exception of: HONORABLE JUSTICE NORTHCROFT, Member 

from New Zealand, not sitting. 

For the Prosecution Section, same as before. 

For the Defense Section, same as before. 

mm mm mm 

The Accused: 

All present except OKAWA, Shumei, who is 

represented by his counsel. 

(English to Japanese and Japanese 

to English interpretation was made by the 

Language Section, IHTFE.) 
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MARSHAL OF THE COURT: The International 

Military Tribunal for the Far East is now in session. 

THE PRESIDENT: Mr. Williams. 

ilh. E. SIKLIAMS: President, Members of 

the Tribunal. 

The machinations, the threats, the pressure, 

the military action, all under cover of misleading 

and false explanations, by which Japan forced large 

armies first into northern and later into southern 

Indo-China were but steps in the plans to acquire 

the complete control of that rich territory. (Ex. 

612-665. H . 6731-7194). 

The attempts to force concessions, the 

subservice activities, the spreading of propaganda, 

the military invasion of the Netherlands East Indies, 

the forcing of Japan's political structure, of Jap-

anese education, of Japanese propaganda, and the 

cultivation of Japanese inspired political movements 

within that country were but part and parcel of the 

objective to become its masters. (Ex. 1284-1354. 

R.11669-1234-2). 

In the course of the overall conspiracy 

which 1 have been discussing which is pleaded in 

Count 1 of the Indictment, the lesser conspiracies 

alleged in Counts 2, 3, 4 and 5 were involved. They 
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were but part and parcel of the overall plan. The 

preparations for war alleged in Counts 6 to 17 in-

clusive, the initiation of the wars alleged in 

Counts 18 to 26 inclusive, the waging of the wars 

set forth in Counts 27 to 36 inclusive were all 

crimes committed within the scope and course of the 

overall conspiracy pleaded in Count 1 and con-

cerning which J have been addressing the Tribunal. 

The charges of murder set forth in Counts 

37 to 52 inclusive, were perpetrated in the course 

and as a part of the carrying out of the conspiracy. 

Each of these murders and countless tens of thousands 

not pleaded were but the ordinary, customary, ex-

pected and foreseen results of the wars of aggression 

contemplated by the conspirators. 

The conventional war crimes and crimes 

against humanity set forth in Counts 53 to 55 in-

clusive were but the obvious, necessary and in-

tended results cf the kind of warfare planned and 

intended by these conspirators. 

No one of the accused can disaeeotiate him-

self from his participation in the overall criminal 

conspiracy alleged and proved. Ko reasonable con-

tention that any of the specific crimes charged 

was not within the scope, purpose or intent of that 
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conspiracy can be made. It follows that each of the 

defendants is criminally liable for each act com-

mitted during the course of the criminal conspiracy. 

It is no defense that the position of any 

accused was "subordinate," or that he but obeyed 

orders - neither under common law, nor the Charter, 

is such claim a defense, and who can say in a con-

spiracy of this magnitude, what role was "subordi-

nate"? 

As we come now to a consider'tion of the 

evidence showing the connection of the several 

defendants with the over-all conspiracy and their 

individual guilt, it is well to bear in mind that 

the object cf the plan or conspiracy upon which these 

defendants and others entered, was thet Japan should 

secure and hold the military, naval, political and 

economic domination of ell East Asia and the Pacific 

and Indian Oceans and all countries bordering thereon 

and islands therein, end at the same time drive the 

"whites" out; that this object should be effected 

by means of declared or undeclared wars of aggression 

and in violation of International law, treaties, 

agreements and assurances, against any country or 

countries, including the countries sought to be 

seized, which might oppose that purpose. 
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The co 

preparation of 

propaganda and 

program intende 

political renov 

cf Japan itself 

Jr.pcneso econom 

nspiracy envisaged and required tho 

the people of Jspan by means of 

censorship to accept and join in the 

d. It involved the economic and , 

ation, coordination and integration 

It involved the keying of the 

ical snd financial system to the 

expanded requirements of aggressive war, and the 

integration cf thr.t system with those of conquered 

territories. It involved vast preparation by ac-

quisition, manufacture end storing of arms, munitions 

and military and naval equipment. It involved the 

training of soldiers and sailors in vast numbers, 

ana tho mobilization for agriculture and industry 

of the nan and woman power of Japan. It involved 

the organization and use of the communication and 

transportation system of Japan and all conquered 

territories. It involved the organization and use 

of the man power of conquered territories for the 

benefit of Japanese military and civilian industrial 

and economic requirements. It involved the over-all 

integration of all of the people, the territory, thw 

men and material of Japan and her conquered ter-

ritories fcr the single purpose of further military 

agression and domination, while at the same time it 
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required that in her International relations Japan 

should on the one hand conceal her true purpose and 

her war-like proprrations and on the other hand seek 

by means of diplomacy to lull tho other nations of 

the world, into a sense cf security and at the same 

time to obtain from them any and all concessions 

which would enable Japan to procced with her grand 

objective. 

To accomplish this purpose there were re-

quired not only military men such as ARAKI ? IvIIWAMI, 

TOJO, knii others, but nsval officers such as NAGANO, 

SHIMADA and OKA, and propagandists such as OKAWA, 

HASHIMOTO, AitAKI and SKIRATCRI; politicians such as 

KIDO and MATSUOKA; industrial and economic experts 

such as KAYA; diplomats such as HIROTA, TOGO, SHIGEMITSUト 

OSHIMA; makers of puppets, such as DOHIHABA and 

エTAGAKI; and countless others. 

The efforts of all these men in their many 

and varied fields were required in order that their 

grand objective night be attained, and while the 

rcles of some v/ere mere spectacular and dramatic 

than those of others, each in his place and at the 

times required performed his part and contributed 

effectively to the development of the plans, strategy 

and the action of the conspiracy. 
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My brother, Mr. A. S. Comyns-Carr, Associate 

Prosecutor from the United Kingdom, will soon present 

to the Tribunal an analysis of the evidence showing 

the connection of each of the individual accused with 

the conspiracies here alleged and their criminal 

responsibility for each of the specific crimes charged 

Under the Charter, it would seem not timely, 

or even prot.er, at this stage of the trial for the 

prosecution formally to sum up, or fully to r.nslyze 

the evidence. (Chnrter: I V , 1 5 ) . We have, there-

fore ,made no effort to present our full views in 

respect of of the evidence so far offered. This 

presentation end that to follow are intended simply 

and only to show: 

( 1 ) T h a t there is sufficient ovidence, if 

unccntradicted. or unexplained, to prove the existence 

of the conspiracies and the commission of the sub-

stantive crimcs alleged in the Indictment; 

(2) That each of the accused wes a res-

ponsible member of the conspiracy and as such crimi-

nally answerable as a conspirator sna also for the 

iubstantive crimes committed， whether in the course 

cf the conspiracies or otherwise. 

If more n this is required we submit 

that under the expross provisions of the Charter the 



16,767 

2 

3 

4 \ 

5 

,6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

1 3 

1 4 

1 5 

16 

1 7 

18 

1 9 

20 

21 

22 

2 3 

2 4 

25 

time to do so is after al\ evidence from the defense, 

as well as the prosecution, has been hoard« 

At any rate, it should be borne in mind 

that in considering a motion to dismiss at the end 

of the prosecution case, it is the duty of the Court 

to take as true all evidence and to draw all in-

ferences therefrom favorable to the prosecution; and 

at the same time to disregard all conflicts, whether 

of evidence or inference. 

The arguments made by the defense have 

obviously disregarded this fundamental rule. 
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THE PRESIDENT ミ There is a statement 

made by ！.,:r.ドilliams at the end of his reioly 

which, to say the least, is arguable. That is 

all I propose to say aboi:t it. I do not let it 

pass without comment. 

Mr. Cornyns Carr. 

COMYNS C/Jffii May it please the 

Tribunal, we have been in some difficulty in 

preparing oiir answer to these rrotions partly 

because of the short notice we have had with re-

gard to almost all of them, and nartly because 

we have n^t known in how much detail the Tribunal 

唧ould desire us to answer them. In the ordinary 

way we should neither be required nor allowed to 

sum up our case at this stage. 

We propose, however, for the convenience 

of the Tribunal and siibject to its approval, to 

handle the matter in the following way. 

First, we propose to hand in and circu-

late to the defense for the convenience of all 

concerned a chronological summary of the whole 

of our evidence so far as it is reasonably capable 

of being dealt with in that way, down to the close 

of the Netherlands phase of the case on December 10, 

1946. This is a scr^evhat formidable document, the 
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main part of which consists of 314 pages, the 

preparation of which has involved considerable 

labor. Great care has been taken to avoid errors 

and omissions, but some may unavoidably have 

occurred. Bulky as it is, every item is necessar-

ily much condensed, but we have given the reference 

to the oago of the record and the exhibit number 

for every statement so that the reader can check 

and amplify it at will. At the end there are two 

appendices； A gives a general indication of mat-

ters omitted becaLtse of their character not lend-

ing themselves to nhronological treatment. This 

is, of course, particularly true of much of the 

oral testimony.  v;e have also deliberately re-

served the Class B and C offenses for separate 

treatment. At the end of Appendix A is a list 

of the exhibits which are extracts from "Foreign 

Relations" dealing with the negotiations from 

April to December 194-1 leading up to the Pacific 

War. Appendix B deals separately with each ac-

cused ,giving the pages of the main summary on 

which he is actually named, a list of his offices, 

etc., with dates and reference to the pages of the 

main summary covering those periods； the exhibit 

numbers of extracts from his interrogation; and 
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of speeches or writings by him (other than 

correspondence), if any： r；nd tlie dates on which 

he received decorations for specific services form-

ing part nf the case« 

VTe have not hsid time to include anywhere 

the evidence introduced since the close of the 

atrocities phase. I am incorporating a good 

deal of it in the following remarks, as well as 

correcting one or t?;o errors which have been 

discovered in the sucmary. 

In asking you to accept this document 

we are following the practice prevailing in some 

courts, particularly in America, of handling in 

written briefs, but we ^ould urge you to remember 

what it does, and what it does not, purport to 

include. May it be handed around? 

THE PRESIDENT; Kr. Carr, we have called 

upon the T5rosecntion to reply to t he defense. We 

expect a ret)ly and nothing else. It may be the 

material i-'hich you. are going to place before us 

is a reply, ^e do not know.
 TT

e have not seen it. 

So far we have no objections to take. You may 

hand it ar©und unless thu defense objects. 

Mr. Logan。 

IB.. LOGAN: If the Tribunal please, we 
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have not seen the document in question. I asked 

Carr for a copy of it, and he refused to give 

it to us. 

THE PRESIDENTs There is no obligation 

upon him to do so. It does not come within the 

rules. But I am sure the Tribunal would like for 

you to have a copy or copies. It is very difficult 

to follow these things as t'aey are read unless you 

have a copy; we find it so, ?.t all events * 

IB.. LOGAN: That is right. Until we 

have seen it, your Honor, mry we reserve our 

objections to it? It may be he is presenting it as 

a part of his argument; I clo not know. 

THE PRESIDENT: If it is a reply we can 

take no exception to it, and neither can you. 

m . LOGANs That is right. It may be 

of value to all of us if it is a true chronology; 

エ don't know;エ haven't seen it. 

THE PRESIDENT; I em sure the Tribunal 

would like to have it, Hr. Carr, subject to the 

defense' objections. 
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m . COMYNS CARR: Would it be convenient, 

your Honor, if we give them copies now to look at so 

that they ean decide whether they propose to take any 

further objection? 

THE PRESIEENT: It will take them some time 

to make up their minds. I suggest you give them 

copies now, Mr. Carr, and then proceed to read the 

material. 

m . COMYNS CARR: If your Honor ^leases. 

Your Honor, may I say that we are handing 

them copies now on the understanding that if they 

object to the Tribunal having the document, the copies 

will be returned? 

THE PRESIDENT: We made no order for coDies, 

so you can make your own terms, Mr. Carr. 

Captain Brooks. 

MR. BROOKS: If the Tribunal please, in 

accepting these we are not accepting them on those 

terms as presented by the prosecutor.エ think that 

he has already delivered this morning copies to each 

one on the bench of the court, and エ thought at the 

time it was improper to do so until this matter was 

at least called to our attention, because it is really 

a summary and excerpts of the record and we have a 
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court record here that is very concise, I think. 
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THE PRESIDENT: We saw them before us when we 

took our seats. None of us read them. We put them 

to one sice. 

m . COMYNS CARR: I did not know that they 

had actually" been put on your desks. I thought they 

were still in the custody of the Clerk of the Court. 

THE PRESIDEOT1: No harm was intended, and 

none was done. 

MR. COMYNS CARR: Nert I propose to address 

you on these motions as a whole, covering generally 

the position of each accused in relation to the Indict-

ment. If", when I have finished what エ have prepared 

for simultaneous translation, any member of the 

Tribunal wishes me to deal with anything which I have 

omitted, I shall be pleased to answer to the best of 

my ability. 

I will deal first of all with the Indictment 

generally, beginning with Group One, Crimes against 

Peace. These consist, first, of five conspiracy counts, — — 

the first count general, the other four stressing 

particular aspects of the conspiracy as it developed. 

le have alleged that each of them began on 1 January 

1928 and ended on 2 September 194-5, in ray submission 

rightly, especially as to the latter date, because 

although, for example, the Manchurian aggression 
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may be said to have bean accomplished in 1934， or 

even earlier so far as the four provinces themselves 

were concerned, the domination of them lasted to 

the end and they were used to the end to assist in 

further aggressions. Good examples of this are to be 

found in exhibits 1214 and 1219, where TOGO is giving 

instructions on 4 and 7 tec ember 194-1 (and changing 

them within a few Gays)--

THE PRESIDENT: Mr. Carr, we haven't copies 

of what you are reading now* 

腿 . C O M Y N S CARR: I am very sorry, your 

Honor, but until we received the defense motions 

it 呵as impossible to prepare answers to them, and it 

has been a very severe task to achieve even as much as 

we have done and tiiere has just not been time to have 

them stencilod so that copies would be available for 

everybody. 

THE PRESIDENT: Will you re?d showly, 

Mr* Carr, please? 

'MR. COMYWS CARR: If your Honor please. 

I will begin that sentence again. 

Good examples of this are to be found in 

exhibits 1214 and 1219 where TOGO is_giving instructions 

on 4 and 7 December 1941 (and changing them within a 

few days) as to the narts which Manchuria and occupied 
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China wore to play in the Pacific War and the Chinese 

and Russian evidence (extending right up to 194-5) as 

to the preparations going on there and the use of 

Manchuria as a base for the further invasion of China 

and the actual and contemplated invasion of the U.S.S.R. 

~ ~ " " " 一 

It follows that the guilt of the Manchuria conspiracy 
is not confined to those such as OKAWA, HASHIMOTO 

and ITAGAKI, who ate proved to have taken part in the 

original plot, and MINAMI, ARAKI, L.OHIHARA and KOISO, 
-— _____ - — 

who vere active in it at an early date, but extends 

to all the other accused some of whom may not have 
' — 一 ~ —.— — - - -

been active in it or even in favor of it at the 
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beginning, provided they are proved to have aaopted 
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it later. Counts 6 to 17 inclusive allege against • ^̂ へ 

all the accused the planning and preparation of 

aggressive wars against nmBb^-0£~£.ountries > Here 

again the charges cover the whole period, in our 

submission tightly* Planning and preparation do not 

Ciease when actual war begins^ nor are they, of th3 

conspiracy -go wage them； ahy t.hP- tp^s nffsnft^M Lui-ause-

in a particular caso the actual war may never have 

occurred at all or may tochnicp.lly have been started 

.i Basically, our proposition as explained by 

\ my friend, Mr. Williams, is that from "che moment when 
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a particular accused is proved to have joined the 

conspiracy until the moment, if any, v?hen he is proved 

definitely to have severed his connection with it, "as 
* 

leader, organizer, instigator or accomplice," to quote 

the Charter, he is guilty as a principal, not only of 

the conspiracy, but also of all substantive offences 

contesiplated by the conspiracy, which may be "performed 

by himself or any person in the execution of such 

plan." In this and other respects the Charter only 

emphasizes legal propositions familiar to most of us. 

Therefore, it is not, in our submission, necessary to 

prove direct participation "by any individual in the 

particular act or acts the subject of any count, pro-

vided they occurred after we prove that he joined the 

conspiracy, and were within its scope, and he is not 

shown to have repudiated the conspiracy at that date. 

That being our viev;, I do not think it would be helpful 

to deal with each accused count by count, which would 

involve endless repetition. 

With regard to Counts 18 to 26, Initiating 

Aggressive Wars, we may perhaps have been unduly 

meticulous in drawing the Indictment in not following 

that principle to its logical conclusion. We have 

not charged every accused in each of these counts 

with "initiating" at specific times, unless we expected 



16,777-

to have evidence connecting him with the immediate 

responsibility for those acts at the relevant dates. 

However, if we have failed in that in any individual 

case, but given you sufficient evidence to show that at 

the date in question each named accused had joined the 

general conspiracy, we submit that that is enough. We 

have been perhaps too meticulous also in another respect, 

8 j namely, that in the cases where an actual declaration 

of wnr came from another country before an attack by 

Japan we have made no charge in this category, even 

though, as in the case of the Netherlands, we have 

submitted ample p^oof of Japan's aggressive intention 

and have, therefore, made a charge of "waging aggressive 

war." This does not npply to cases such as the 

United States and the British Commonwealth; tho dec-

laration of war came from them, but only because Japan 

had made her attack first without any declaration. 

Most of the above remarks apply to the "waging" class 

of Counts 27 to 36. 

I would like to say a few words about the 

Ciontontion that because declarations contemporary with 

the Kellogg-Briand Pact showed that it was not intended 

to exclude self-defense, and left each nation free to 

decide whether it was obliged to have recourse to war 

in self-defence, therefore this Tribunal has no 
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jurisdiction to inquire into that decision. This has 

boon dealt with in the Nuernberg judgment at pages 28 

to 30. I would concede that some latitude must be 

allowed in this matter. If you find on the facts 

vvhen the evidence of the accused has been given, that 

such a view was both genuinely held and reasonable, it 

might afford a defense even if you aid not agree with 

it. But we have given evidence to show that it was 

neither. It could only be entertained by giving to the 

V/ords "self-defense" a meaning which thoy obviously can-

not bear, namely, "the enforcement of the policy of 

Japan in any. part of the world." Such n meaning is 

sought to be given to them in a number of Japanese 

documents and statements by the accused which are in 

evidence. Some of them will be meritionod when I deal 

with the cases of those accusod. But it can be found 

very clearly in the amusing exhibit 127〇-A, in which 

a committee of Japanese lawyers working for the Foreign 

Minister TOGO tried to manufacture an excuse for the 

failure or deliberate omission to give warning before 

the attacks on Lecember 8,1941. In so Going they 

destroyed most of thosa which have been suggested and 

fell back upon "self-defense." In truth there is not 

the slightest pretext for this contention. We have 

given evidence- of planned aggression by Japan, acting 
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by these accused, at every stage. In the approach to 

the Pacific War every act of oacli' of the Allies during 

1940 to 1941 was merely provoked by some new aggressive 

move of Japan, obviously designsd as a threat against 

one or more of them. There is not the smallest evidence 

of an intention by any of them to attack Japp.n, or 

even to interfere by armed force with her aggression 

in China, which they might have been well justified in 

doing. 

I do not propose to go through all tho nego-

tiations loading up to the racific War. The position 

at the beginning of them wns thn t Japan had accomplished 

her aggression in Manchuria and had achieved large 

successes in, but had failed to complete, her aggression 

in the rest of China. If you accept our contention 

that this was actually an unjustified aggression, that 

view must be the touchstone in considering the subsequent 

negotiations. The members of the League of Nations, 

and of the Brussels Conference, including the United 

States and Britain, had so declared and refused to 

recognize these conquests. There was the Tri-Partite 

Pact and the advance to the south had begun. The 

European War was in progress and France and the Nether 

land overrun. Russia anc the United States were not yet 

involved 
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Japan was in essence seeking, so far as her 

negotiations were genuine at all, to cio something which 

was obviously impossible. She was like a burglar in 

possession of his spoils, who wants to be received 

back into respectable society not only without punish-

ment but with tho retention of part of his ill-gotten 

gains. The only point on which she was prepared to 

compromise was hoiv much of the gains, repeatedly 

described as "the fruits of four ind a half years of 

sacrifice in China," she should b3 allowed to keep. 

Any intelligent person must hesva known that on this 

basis there was never any hope of success. 

I think it is sufficient to exanino the 

question 此 ether the Unit ad St-stas note of Novembsr 26, 

1941, exhibit 1245-1, provided any legitimate excuse, 

as alleged by the accused concerned, for Jap^n to go 

to war. In my submission there is none. On the 

contrary, every porposal nut forward is ono which the 

United States and those "/ho later bocane its allies 

had every right to demand, and Japan evary meral and 

contractual obligation to concede. But even if this 

ware not so, it doas not contain tho slightest hint 
j 

of a threat that if it is not accepted the United State^ 

or any of the other countries concerned 卿 u l d attempt 

to enforce it by war. It wss only Japan, represented 
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by some of those accuscd, r;nich regarded and used 

the breakdown of the negotiations as a cause for war. 
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I now come to group t w o： I に urder, the in-

evitable consequence of aggressive warfare, and the 

greatest of all "Crimes Against Peace." These 

counts in our submission reduce this matter to its 

simplest and must conclusive form. The argument 

that the crime of aggressive war involves ex post 

facto law is invalid for, among others, the reasons 

piven in the Nuremberg Jurgment. But when the 

charge is framed as murder it sirrly トss no appli-

cation. Every statesman or commander who is a 

party to ordering his army to attack and kill an 

enemy, even in legitimate warfare, fulfils all the 

corditions of murder if it ws.s done without le?;ful 

justification. However, if it appears th&t this was 

dore in lawful belligerency be is not guilty. Now 

we must recognize the distinction betweer that 

which is unlawful and that wbicb is criminal.Every 

criminal set is unlawful, but not every unlawful 

act is criminal. In charging that aggressive war 

is a punishable crime in the individual who launches 

it, vie have to establish th?t it is in itself such 

b crime, s burden which we claim トere, and the 

Nuremberg Tribunal卜as found 计 e r e to have been 

discharged. But when the raetter is viewed as common 

law murder the point does not erise. The accused 



16,783-

wYo necessarily fulfils all the other elements of 

murder, in that トe has purposely ordered the kill-

ing of human beings, has to rely upon a lawful 

justification. Fe says war is such a justification, 

but if the war is unlawful his justification fsils. 

Now even if it were not estpblished, as we claim 

it is, tbat afgressive wsr, in breach of a treaty, 

is itself a punishable crime, it is certainly not 

lawful, and therefore cannot, efford a justification 

for what is otherwise plain murder. If this has 

never been recognized before it is only becruse the 

circumstances have never arisen "before, and it is 

bigh tine it was recognized now. It lnss always 

been implicit in the definition of murder in every 

civilized countr〉、 It disposes finally of the last 

vestige of plausibility in the ex post facto argument. 

In group two we have alleged tbat vsrious acts of 

warfere were illegal, and the killings nurder, for 

one or two or all of three reasons. 

First thet the war was undeclared and in 

the nature of a treacherous surprise. Second, 

that it was in breach of the treaties against 

aggressive war。 Third, that the manner in which it 

was conducted was contrary to the lews of war. 

This brings me to group three in the 
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Indictment. Conventional wrr Crimes and Crimes egsinst 

Fumanity. Our legal srgunent on this subject is 

rather fully set out in Appendix D to the Indictnent 

itself. We hsve proved all the fs.cts there 

elleged. ^e claim to have shown that the govern-

ment of Japan was in effect bound by the Geneva 

Conventions of 1929. But faj.linp that we ssy they 

were unquestionably bound by the Hague Conventions, 

particularly numbers 在 and IC, of 1907, and thst 

all the Conventions are merely decler?tory of 

Interne.tioral Lav. Every outrage we have ell eged 

comes in our submission within all of the”1. 

These rre tine ？?s.ys in vjh ich cl e.im to 

have proved the responsibility of the accused for 

these outrages. 

1 . A r t i c l e 4 of the Hafue Convention and 

Article 2 of the Geneva Convention provide that 

prisoners of war sre in the power of tire hostile 

government and not of the individuals or corps 

which capture tin em. No government or member of it 

in face of this can evade responsibility by trying 

to shift it on to e particular department such as 

the でg.r or F&vy Ministry, or onto individual 

commenders in the field, though the letter snd the 

officials of those Finistries .̂ay end do thereby 
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require a responsibility of their own. The main 

responsibility remains with every individual raember 

of the government. 

2. Every one of the accused must have been 

eware of tbe horrible notoriety attached to the 

Japanese army by th'e outrages at Nanking and else-

where in China, and of the d m g e r that this might 

recur« 

3. We have proved e genersl similarity in 

the character of the outrages prevr-lent over all 

the theatres of we.r in which the Jap?nrse E.rmy or 

navy operated during the Pacific T"ar, both with 

one another end with wbst happened in Ch in si, which 

establishes a universpl plan or pattern, r.nd indi-

cates that this was a recognized policy of terrorise. 

4. We hsve proved s lonf series of protests 

over the air and through the Protecting Powers 

which must have brought to the attention of all the 

accused the necessity of using their authority to 

improve the conditions, a duty which lay upon thorn 

in any esse. In so fr.r es these were addressed to 

Foreign Finisters SHIGEMITSU end TOGO, we say thst 

they by no means discbrrped their responsibility 

by merely passing the complrints on to the 

Ministries directly concerned, rnd forwarding such 
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few, meagre and obviously unss.tisfrctory replies 

they received, to the Protecting Powers. Their 

duty was to bring the matter before tbe Cabinet, 

wbich presumably they did, end if they could get 

no setisfe.ction, to resign. 

5. In a number of we have proved 

direct personal responsibility of individual accused 

for outrages in general or in particular, including 

MATSUI, HATA, DOHIHARA', MUTO, ITAGAKI, KIMURA a.nd 

SATO, wbo held commends in e.reas concerned, and 

TO JO, KIIIURA, MUTO, SATO and SHIMADA, who held posts 

immediatelj'" responsible at the centre. I should 

l^ave added there: end OKA. The idea tl'et commanders 

in the field were alone responsible is unfounded. 

But they had a responsibility. 

It is contended thrt by reason of tbe use 

of the words mutgtis mutanc1.is the Japanese government 

was only bound to apply the provisions of the 1929 

POW Convention in so far as ey were not inconsistent 

vith the provisions of Japanese intern&l lews and 

in so far be the exigencies of the wsr situation 

permitted or indeed et their discretion. The 

answer to this contention, however, is tb?t, in so 

fc-r p.s the Convention is binding or sets out inter-

net ional common lew, t卜.安 Japanese government could 
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not shelter itself behind rny domestic le厂isletion 

wbich would be inconsistent with it. 

Tt has never been denied that persons may 

be criminally liable for vio!! rtion of internetional 

law. 

In the Y A M S H I T A crso, the responsibility 

of a. conrnanding officer vて-‘s considered. Tbe charge 

was that the commanding officer "unlr.wfully disregarded 

and failed to discherge his duty as comrarnder to 

control the operations of the members of his comm&nd, 

permittirf them to conmit brute 1 atrocities against 

people of. the United States and its allies and he 

thcretiy violated tl'e laws of wrr." Tbe Supreme Court 

of the United States stated th?t in its opinion an 

army commrnder bad tbe duty "to take such appropriate 

measures es sre in his power to control the troops 

under M s command in tbr prevention of the specified 

acts which ere viol?tions of the law of war r.nd 

which are likely to attend the occupation of hostile 

territory by pn uncontrolled soldiery." Responsi-

bility, according to this crse, end, it is contended, 

rccordinf to internrtional is based upon the 

"power to control." 

The general proposition may, therefore, 

be stated thft ？.11 persons who hr.ve the power to 
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control tjne sets of others who commit breaches of 

the laws of war snd who, knowing thrt such breeches 

hp.ve been committed, t?ke no steps to prevent their 

repetition; or Vvbo, having reeson to anticipate 

violations of the lews of war by persons under 

their control, fail to t?ke proper measures to prevent 

their occurrence； or who, h&ving a duty to ensure 

thst their collesrues corform to the laws of wrr, 

noplect to perform thet duty, are themselves guilty 

of offences agr inst thr 1 avis of war. 

In fixing the respon^ibilitv for violations 

of the. laws of v;cr upon persons who, by rerson of 

their official.position, hsve porer to control the 

e.cts of subordinates, and who may bf remote from 

the pieces where the atrocities are actuelly com-

mitted by the forces under their control, it mv.y be 

contended that it is necessary thst such persons 

should have knowledge tbat atrocities e.re likely 

to be committed or heve been committed before any 

responsibility for their fe.ilure to prevent the 

commission or the repetition thereof ce.ri be inposed 

upon them. Once it is shown thc;t a person has 

the knowledge or ought to b?ve the knowledge the.t 

atrocities ere likely to be committet? or hrvc been 

committed by ethers under his control, it is 



2 
I 

4 

5 ！ 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

1 3 

1 4 

1 5 

16 

1 7 

18 

1 9 

20 

21 

22 

2 3 

2 4 

25 

submitted, that ? 'duty immedietely crises to exercise 

tne poFer of control so as to prevent the commission 

or repetition of such offenses. No person can rid 

birsself of responsibility if he deliberately fails to 

make inquiries end by roeson of such failure does 

not acquire actual knowledge of atrocities. If this 

were so， every member of e government could gain 

immunity simply by neglecting to inform himself. 

It is also contended ths:t, v;hen £ strte of 

things is widespread and notorious, there is a prima 

fscie presumption of knowledge which calls for 

rebuttal by the accused. In the rbsence of such 

rebuttal, knovledgo may be inferred. 

As to knov'lG(?ge th£t atrocities were likely 

to be committed rfter 7th December 1941, it is an 

inportent f?ct th?t the Japanese government v:r-s at 

war with Cbina from 1931 until 1945 and tbst during 

that period mcny atrocities and other flegrent 

breaches of the laws of wrr rere committed by the 

Jp.prnese Forces against prisoners of war and 

civilians, and that notificetions and protests 

concerning such atrocities were sent to the Jr.penese 

government in Tokyo and the pcnerr.l fects, if not 

the exact detc.ils, v;ere notorious throughout the 
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world, r.nd psrticul&rly in Jepsn. Evidence of such 

protests vjrs given, for example, by Dr. Betes. 

After 7th December 19^-1 many letters of 

protest setting out dctsils of bresches of tbe Ip.ws 

of v;r.r were sent by the Swiss T'lnister on behalf of 

Allied governments to the Jrprnr.se: Foreign Finister. 

In most crses there w.s no rぐつly rt ell, while in 

others, efter reperted reminders, replies were 

forthcoming only sfter greet deley. In no crse was 

any srtisfe.ctory rnsrer ever received. Many requests 

to visit crmps in Jap&n cnc! elsewhere were mado by 

tho Protecting Power but, with a fex exceptions, 

visits we-re alv?rys r e f u s e d . 1开 e n reasons were given 

for r e f u s a l ,T H E Y 对ere, in most C F S C S , fictitious. 

Permission to visit crmps in. Thailend, 

v;hcre the prisoners of wr.r end native labourers v-ere 

held under the most appalling conditions, was 

frequently requested, but consistently refused "by 

the Japanese government on grounds wbicb are clearly 

unrec.sonrble. Exhibits 473 and 475, with Colonel 

wild's evidence, esteblisト tbrt tbc nper&tion on 

which t!"ese unfortunfte men were forced to work \".，£s 

of strategic importance, ordered by Imperial Genera1 

^eadqurrtcrs, under the finrncirl control of the 

Japanese governnert. The Yv'elfcre of these men wes 
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necessity, whiclp in itself mafle their employment, 

even under good conditions, unlawful. 

In many ceses, the conduct complained of by 

the Allied powers wes the direct result of deliberate 

action by Japanese officials in passing laws and promul-

gating orders governing the discipline and punishment 

of Allied prisoners of wrr in Japanese bands. 

The United Stctes r.nd British governments on 

many occasions reminded the defendants of their obli-

getiors in matters concernirg prisoners of w&r r.nd 

reference may be made to the occasions on which they 

informed the J?.psnese government thpt it could not 

escape responsibility for the consequences of its 

disregard of the principles of internetionsl lr.w. 

With reference to the contention tbpt the 

Potsdam Decl^rEtion end instrument of surrender did 

not refer to any war criminals other th?n those 

guilty of whet fre called "Conventionel ¥?.r Crimes." 
H 

Not only is this unfounded as a matter of construction, 

but we heve now proved thct it is not based on feet, 

but th?t the then Japanese government fully understood 

thst it included those responsible for the war, by 

tbe entry from KIDO's diary, exhibit 1283, of August 
2 5 

9， 1 9 4 5 . 
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MR. COLIYKS-CARR: I will now deal with 

some further points ir the General Motion of the 

defense. Most of them I do not think it necessary 

to answer unless requested to do so by the Tribunal. 

The 1egal points were mostly dealt with on the 

irotions directed against the Indictment itself, 

and are in our submission out of place at this 

stage. But エ will add a few v^ords on some of 

them. Practically all of them are contrary to 

the plain terms of the Charter, but we prefer to 

meet them on their merits. 

I will take paragraphs one to six together. 

We repudicate altogether the idea that International 

Law is a matter to be proved by evidence. So far 

as we rely upon particular treaties we have proved 

them, or more correctly, placed them before you. 

The only kind of law which requires evidence is 

the law of a country foreign to that in which the 

Tribunal has jurisdiction. This is an International 

Tribunal. International Law is your law. As to an 

international code and the right to establish an 

International Tribunal to enforce it, Japan and most 

of the countries here cor cerned recognized this at 

Versailles. 

The code is Tvell defined in the Treaties 
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existing at that time or agreed upon since then and 

in the common standards of humanity. This subject 

was dealt with in the judgment of the Nuremberg 

Trial, pages thirty-six to forty-two, and although 

it is not binding upon you, and could, of course, 

if you wish it be amplified, for the present I 

adopt that passage. It also disposes of the con-

tentions in paragraphs seven to eight and ten. These 

エ submit are peculiarly absurds "You cannot indict 

a nation", it has been said5 the reason being that 

the acts are those of the individuals who held power 

in that ；nation. Fow the converse is suggested j 

"You cannot indict the individual criminals, because 

they committed their crimes in the name of their 

nation". So is the idea in paragraph ten that be-

cause you cannot conduct a government without agree-

ment araorg the irdividuals who form it 5 they cannot 

be guilty of a criminal conspiracy. It obviously 

depends upon the question whether the policy on which 

they agree is criminal or not. The statements about 

Thailand in -oaragraphs twenty and forty-eight are 

contrary to the evidence. Exhibits 1186， '55， ̂ 02 

and 1275 with the evidence of Colonel Wild, show that 

it was the intention to invade Thailand and that it 

was done, before any agreement was reached. The 



contentipn in paragraph forty-eight with regard to 

Thailand and in paragraph fifty-eight with regard 

to the Mongolian Republic that the Tribunal cannot 

deal with offenses against them because they are 

not re-ore^ented in the prosecution and are not 

proved to have consented to it is, in cur submission, 

equally absurd. Ir no legal system that I know is 

the right of prosecution limited to the injured 

party. 

Coming now to the motions with regard to 

individual accused we observe a general tendency to 

suggest that many of them cannot be guilty because 

they were career officers or officials. It is 

necessary tc distinguish carefully between the 

people of such position in the Japan of this period 

and in some of our own countries. In Japan the 

service ministers always had to be senior officers 

nominated by their colleagues, and. from 1936 onwards 

they had to be on active service. With, regard to 

the civiliar ministers, many of them from the begin-

ning, and from February 1937 onwards almost all of 

them were also career officials. In each case the 

practice was for these men to hold career positions 

one day, become Ministers of State another day, and 

revert to career positiens again after they retired 
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from v;ha-f we- should regard as political office. 

Sometimes, after thev had retired from one cabinet 

or command, they became Cabinet Councillors or 

Military Councillors to a later one. Moreover, even 

in their career positions they did not maintain the 

tradition of such iren in our countries that they 

merely carried out their instructions. We find 

service officers, both senior and junior, taking 

part in plots directed, to alter the course of 

politics in Japan, and carrying out policies of their 

own in their roirmands，with the sometimes reluctant 

acquiescence of the governments whom they v;ere sup-

posed to obey. We find the Army issuing officially 

statements of its views on questions of general as 

well as army policy. We find ambassadors threatening 

to resign, and resigning, when they did not see eye 

to eye with the government at home. There was no 

discipline among them. Under all these circumstances 

it is idle for these accused to shelter behind the 

excuse, which might be valid in some countries, that 

they were merely career men. 

When considering individual responsibility 

of each of these iren it is our submission that as long 

as they held their respective positions with knowledge 

of v?hat was happening or with a duty to inquire into it, 
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and without any atternpt to relieve themselves of 

that responsibility, it attaches to them. This 

applies to all of them, whatever the nature of the 

position. A soldier can ask to be relieved of his 

coirmand, if he disapproves of that which he is called 

upon to do. We have two instances given to us by 

the TAKAKA of men, himself and one other whom he 

mentioned hut did not name, wlio resigned important 

TDositions in the War Ministry, the latter specifically 

upon the ?round that he disagreed with the War 

Minister's policy. In the last resort it is the 

duty of even a soldier or a sailor, ard equally 

certainly of a civilian, to disobey an order which 

he krows to be contrary to International Law. 1/ife 

have sti many、instances in the evidence of such men 

disobeying orders or acting contrary to the policy 

of their official superiors when they did rot think 

it was aggressive enough, that it is idle for them 

to sa” the3'- could not have done the same when it 

was marifestlv unlawful. 

25 
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In the case of cabinet ministers, members 

of the Privy Council, and men summoned to the Liai-

son Conferences, Imperial Conferences, and meetings 

of ex-premiers, they could have done much more。 

Not only could they have absolved themselves from 

personal guilt by voicing their protest, if they 

really dissented from the policies pursued, and 

signing any offices they held。 They might easily 

by so doing have altered the whole course of events. 

The Japanese system was very stringent in the matter 

of cabinet unity end responsibility。 One dissentient 

could, by refusing either to resign or withdraw his 

opposition, force the resignation of the whole 

cabinet. This is well illustrated by contrasting 

what happened in the cases of MTSUOKA in July 1941 

(Ex。1115-6) and Togo in September 194-2 (Ex, 1273) • 

In the case of the Army and Liavy Ministers, they 

could, and Army Ministers did, break up cabinets 

merely by resigning. 

We have in the evidence rather stressed the 

fact, because it is unusual, that certain individuals 

in the Army and Navy outside the government could 

prevent the formation of a cabinet, or break it up 

when formed, by the exercise of their power of nom-

inating, or refusing to nominate, or forcing the 
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rasignation•Qf-an. officer in the service to those 

cabinet posts. Further the evidence shows that this 

power was actually used to more effect by the Army 

than by the Ksvy, coupled with the occasional out-

break and constant threat cf insurrection in the 

Army to a greater extent than in the Navy. The 

Navy Chiefs, therefore, if they had wished to stop 

a particular policy on conscientious or prudential 

grounds, could at any time have done so by using the 

same methods which the Army found so effective. 

Among the civilian ministers there was no outside 

organization which could interfere in the way the 

services could, but each individual minister'had his 

own power af action. 

Kor is it of any use for any individual to 

show that his opinion was opposed to a particular 

aggression, whatever the grounds of that opposi-

tion, if he acquiesed in it and retained his posi-

tion. 

Coming now to the Privy Council,that body 

had a right to examine treaties and other matters 

of importance. Their meetings were attended by-

members and officials of the government to explain 

their views and the reasons for them. The respon-

sibility for their decisions, which invariably 
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supported the government, rests, in our submission, 

both upon the members and the explainers. 

The ex-premiers had the responsibility from 

July 194-0 onwards, of consulting with Kido, as Lord 

Keeper of the Privy Seal, on the advice he should 

give to the Emperor as to the choice of a succes-

sor to an outgoing premier. It was his duty to 

report their views individually to the Emperor. On 

each ©f these occasions； therefore, they had the 

opportunity of testing the policy of each suggested 

candidate and influencing it by their choice. This 

wes particularly important in the choice of TOJO 

in October 194-1,and only less so in the war-time 

changes in July 194-4 resulting in the spointment of 

KOISO, and April 1945 resulting in the appointment 

of SUZUKI, Kentaro. On each ef these occasions 

HIROTA and on the last "^wo also HIRANUMA as ex-prem-

iers had opportunities of mrking a firm stpnd for 

peace. They did not. On the first occssion HIROTA, 

according to KIDO (Ex. 1154) ；. definitely supported 

KIDO's recommendation of TOJO against MKATSUKI
1
s 

prsposal of UGAXI, who might really have stopped 

it. On the last two both of them supported fighting 

"Wie war to a finish and concurred in the choices 

made. 
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Even more vitnl were the Liaison and Imper-

ial Conferences in 194-1 snd the ex-premiers meeting 

on November 29th of that year (Ex, 1196 which gives 

the views expressed by HIROTA and HIRANUMA). hvery 

one who attended those shsres with the cabinet 

end with KIDO the responsibility for what happened. 

If eny one who was opposed to war, especially any-

one who was opposed to it on morsl grounds, h?d 

spoken out boldly against it, regardless of internal 

repercussions, it is more than possible thp.t the 

Lmperor would have refused to sanction war. one 

did, if indeed there was anyone who held such viev/s 

in his heart. 

エ notice a suggestion, thst three of the ac-

cused, HOSHINO, MUTO, and 0KA5 merely attended the 

conferences in a secretariel ccprcity. If that were 

true, in our submission it does not absolve them。 

But actuplly, the evidence, in our submission, shows 

that, even if th&t is technically true, they were 

r.ll persons of much greater position snd influence 

thsn the word v/ould imply. 

The decorations received by the vcrious 

sccused during the period, some of which are noted 

in Appendix B to the Summary, pre, in our submission, 
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of particular significance。 1'hey vary, of course, 

in importance with the rank and position of each 

f)ccased at the time they v/ore swarded. Particulars 

will be found in the personnel records。 We suggest 

that it is difficult for an accused to deny respon-

sibility for a pnrticular matter, when he has accep-

ted a decsration for his services in respect of it, 

especially v, high decoration. Particularly im-

portant ere the decorations of certsin of the ac-

cused by Germany, the d&t^ilfed reasons for which are 

given in Exhibit 1272, end the actual award of some 

of which is recorded in Exhibit 2247, 

エ now comt: to take the enses of the accused 

one by one. 

THE PRESIDENTi We will recess for fif-

teen minutes. 

(Whereupon, at 1045 hours a recess 

was taken until 1100 hours, after which the 

proceedings were resumed as follows:) 
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MARSHAL OF THE COURT: The Internetionnl 

Militr.ry Tribunal for the For Ecst is now resumed. 

THE PRFSIDFNT: Mr. Comyns Cr.rr. 

MR. COMYNS CARR: Your Honor,エ am rfrsid 

it won't be nossible for me to take these individual 

ccses in strict alphabcticrl order owing to the dif-

ficulties of time, end to cvoid repetition I hrve hc.d 

to alter the order somcwhrt. 

THE PRESIDENT: We ler.ve it to you entirely, 

Mr. Comyns Cf'rr。 

MR. COMYNS CARR: First of £ll ARAKI. The 

pc,rticulr:rs with regrrd to him crc to be found on 

prge 319 of the Suramnry. To prrc.grr.ph 3, further 

extracts --こ11 in the small volume, your Honor; the 

thin volume. I shall only be referring to the thin 

volume. 

The prrticulnrs with regerd to him crc to be 

found on pege 319 of the Sunmary. To pcrcgrenh 3 

further extracts from his interrogrtions hr.ve to be 

£,dded. They we exhibits 2216, 2217，2218, 2219，2220, 

2221, 2222. To pr.r?.grrph 4 is to be r.dded exhibits 

671 rnd 2223A. 

This r.ccount of the pnrt plryed by ARAKI in 

the conspiracy i谷 ne«essrrily rn account as given in 

evidence before this Tribunrl. With so vast g story 
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to tell £.nv r.ccount must be incomplete but, though 

nothing is here str.ted which hrs not been proved, this 

strtement docs not purnort to be c comnlctc cccount, 

for el丄 purposes, of the prrt he nlr.yed. 

It is imoossiblc to say exr.ctly when ARAKI 

tc-crme k prrty to this conspirrcy but, if he wr.s not 

one already he entered thG conspiracy コt lccst in 

December 1931 v;hen he be cerne Llinister of Wrr. For the 

five months before this nっpointmrnt he been Chief 

of the General Affairs Depc.rtmc nt of the Inspectorrtc 

Gcnerc.l of Militr.ry Training end President of the 

Pcrmr.ncnt Exrrainrt ion Committee for Array Officcr 

Students so thrt he： held both these senior positions 

ot the beginning of the invasion of H&nchuric. He 

must, there fore, hrvo cler.rlv v.ndcr stood Fhr;t the 

Jrpc.nesc forces were doing in Zrnchurir rnd, by 

rcceptirig the Post of Minister of V'rr whilst the 

invr.sion wrs in progress, accented et the srme time 

ros-oonsitiility for the invasion. Moreover not merely 

did he., by rccopting this position, r.cccpt responsi-

bility for the militrry policy which wrs r.lrecdy being 

pursued but by ordering further rets of sggression 

showed how fully he r>rrticipc ted in the whole con-

spirtcy. 

He stctcd,during interrogrtion, th&t he 
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himsclf decided on the occupation of General Chrng's 

four provinces shortly after becoming Wcr Minister snd 

obtained the agreement thereto both of the crbinot rnd. 

of the Privy Council (exhibit 18?A). He further strted, 

during interrogation, that he received g request from 

the Kwantung Army to sot up MenchurilP p.s an independent 

state, thr.t he could hrve refused to forwrrd this re-

quest to the Prime Minister, but thrt he forwarded it 

(exhibit 187). ITAGAKI told TANAKA, recording to tho 

latter's testimony (record prge 1ヲ8ヲ4) that tho Cabinet 

was opposed to Msnchurie being proclaimed rn independent 

state but thst ARAKI wes in ftvor of it ？nd told him 

(ITAGAKI) so. 

During interrogation ARAKI strted, in rela-

tion to the Shsnghsi Incident on Janur.ry 28th, 1932, 

that: he first heard at c, Cabinet meeting that the 

Japanese Novy hed landed there； that, as the Nrvy 

Minister ?脚ho m?ae the announcement, "seid it (the 

incident) could be settled quickly no one v/as worried 

that the Ksvy Minister lcter told him thr.t the ncvt-.l 

forces might be destroyed, he (ARAKI) thereupon rgreed, 

r.s did the Crbinot, that more thrn a division (nbout 

ten thousr.nd troops) should be sent in support and 

that when the first division sent suffered difficulties 

he sent another division in support (exhibit 2221). 
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/.n affidavit by Mr. Stimson, the then United 

States Secretary of State, stated thet on June 23rd, 

1932, he her.rd from Mr. Grew, the then United States 

Ambcssador to Jspcn, thrt ARAKI hcd stctcd thet the 

League of Nrtions resolutions about Manchuria snd the 

Japrnose Government's statements rbout Menchuria made 

before Manchukuo was proclaimed independent were not 

binding on Jcpan (exhibit 1104). 

ARAKT rs responsibility for the rets of 

eggression during the period h-c wr:s Minister of Wsr 

is clso shown by his strtemcnts during intcrrogc.tion 

thrt (1)forces c?nnot be sent ovorser.s without the 

conscnt of the V:C.T , Nr^vy, r.nd Foreign Ministers and 

the Premier (exhibit 2216) r.rjd (2) if hrd ensued 

£s the result of Japan rejecting mother government 1s 

protest the whol Crbinet would h,vve been held respon-

sible (exhibit 2219). 

If the government and ARAKI, the Wrr Minister, 

hed desired only per.ee with Russia is it conceiv?ble 

thrt the Japanese Militcry Attache in Moscow should 

hr.ve spoken, in n report of July 14th, 1932, of being 

"ready to cpper.l to こrms c.gcinst Russia, China, m d 

under certain circumstcnccs against Araericn"? 

(Exhibit 701). 

Perhaps even more, significant, in this 
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connection, Is the despatch of J\:ly 16th, 1932, by the 

Chief of the Russian Section of the 2nd Department 

of the Japanese Genorcl Staff to the Jspanese Military 

Attache in Moscow of a strtement thst "it wr:s decided 

thct. . . .prc-pcretions for wrging war against Russia 

should be completed before the middle of 1934" 

(exhibit 702). 

Moreover exhibit No. 670, an r.ffidcvit r.f 

9 TAKEBE, Rozuko, stated thp.t, cs a Governor, ho heard 

ARAKI 1 s speech to the Prcfectur.l Governors in 1933 

end thct ARAKI, on a map of the U.S.S.H. end Manchuria, 

explained Japan's need for the mr.ritime provinces of 

Siberia arid Zrbcikrlyo. 

Significant for more thsn one reason is ARAKI 13 

speech in the film "Criticel Period for Japan." (Exhibit 

No. 148A) It is significant both because of the 

aggressive sentiments it contains and perhnps even 

more so, bceause ARAKI should heve been the govern-

ment ' s spokesmnn to the public in this conneetion. It 

is evidence of the leading position he held ss an 

exponent of aggressive nr.tionrlism. 

ARAKI wrs a member of the Cebinet Advisory-

Council, which, on his own admission during intcrro-

gstion, wrs set up to cdvise on the China Incident, 

from "almost immediately cftcr its formction" in ’ 
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The Japanese Government issued an official 

aeclrrction cbout Chinr (exhibit 1291) strting thct 

Jsp&n hed prcctically achieved her end in Chine, with 

the nctionrl government rcduced to a locr.l regime ？.nd 

the mc.in territory conquered "but would fight on until 

it wrs completely destroyed. 

A culture 1 agreement wrs mrde with Gc-rmany 

(exhibit 589). 

Militr-ry trrining in boys' schools was 

increased by cn orclinonce issued on November 30th, 

1938 (exhibit 135)• 

The Premier KONOYE on 22 December 1938 stcted 

Jcpsn1 s detcrminrtion to exterminrte the Kuomintr.ng 

Government (exhibit 972). 

The Anti-Comintern Pr.ct wf;s strengthened by 

first Hungery rnd Manchuria and then Spain being 

admitted. 

Hcinnn Island w&s seized by the "forcible 

landing of Jr.pc.nese forces.11 

25 
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；It was whilst such a policy was being pur-

sued that ARAKI was appointed President of the General 

National Mobilization Committee on 28 March 1939. 

It is clearly inconceivable that such a post should 

have been confided at such a time to anyone who 

was not heart and soul in sympathy with, and an ac-

tive supporter of the criminal conspiracy for world 

conquest on which the Japanese Government was en-

gaged. 

It is submitted that the confidence thus 

shews in AH^KI by his fellow conspirators after all 

these years of aggression is very significant of their 

confidence in him. It is further submitted that his 

whole record shows that this confidence was fully de-

served. 

Although he protests that he was friendly to 

Britain and America, this is not in accc.fd with his 

speeches or th.e teaching of the film in which he ap-

peared, &nd vre submit that the war against them was 

the logical result- of the policy he all along advo-

cated. 

エ an told that エ gave a wrong date with re-

gard to his position as Minister of Educstion, I 

should heve said from May 1938, I believe ェ said 1939 — 

May 1938 to August 1939. 
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DOHItiARA. The particulars with regard to 

him are on page 319 of Appendix B. In addition he 

is mentioned in the following pages‘of the record: 

2024， 2028-9， 2034, 2036-8, 2041， 2104-5, 2113， 2120, 

2124-6, 2130-3， 2139, 2284 (Exhibit 197)， 2312-6， 

2334-7, 2336-7, 2362-3, 2367-70, 2374, 2381, 2436-40, 

2442-3, 2448, 2794, 2815-6, 3018，艺102-3, 3211-12, 

3231-33， 3237, 3729, 3730， 3756-9, 3816， 3962， 4124, 

5491, 14273-8, 15713-30 (Exhibit 2190-A), 15857， 

15921-15937 end 16258 (Exhibit 2282). 

Prior to 1931 DOI-ilHAHA hrd spent almost 18 

years in China. In July 1931 he left Tokyo to take 

charge of the Special Service Organization at Mukden 

and to investigate the desth of Captain KAIvAMURA. He 

arrived in Mukden on 18 August but was again back in 

Tokyo early in September (Exhibit 2190-A). There he 

was quoted by the press as "the advocate of a solution 

of all pending issues if necessary by force and as 

so©n as possible "(Exhibit 57, Lytton Report, at page 

66). DOHIIiAKA was then a Colonel. 

He arrived back in Mukden a few days after tke 

Incident had broken out and was made Mayor of Mukden, 

a position which he held until 26 November 1931. 

At the end cf October we find him at Tientsin 

with instructions from the Kv/r.ntung Army to interview 
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Pu-Yi and to tell him that the Kvrrntung Army wou丄a wel-

come his return to Manchuria (Exhibit 2190-A). If 

these were his only instructions he greatly exceeded 

them. A series of consular telegrams to Foreign Min-

ister SHIDEHARA (Exhibits 1-31, 288-294, 300 and 3〇3) 

show him as actively engineering the return of Pu Yi 

and family to Manchuria against the v/ishes of his gov-

ernment and its national policy; they show M m as ad-

mitting that the state of affairs in Manchuria had been 

brought about by the Japanese militcry authorities in 

Manchuria； they show him hinting that, if the govern-

ment intervened in Manchuria, the Kwantung Army would 

separate from the government and assassinations would 

break out in Tokyo, and they show him as engineering 

sn outbreaks: at Tientsin to prevent evacuation of Japan-

ese forces therefrom. Exhibit 57, Lytton Report, at 

pages 75 to 6 shows that trouble did break out in 

Tientsin on 8 and 26 November 1931. 

At the end of November he took charge of the 

Special Service Organization at Harbin (Exhibit 2190-A). 

Shortly after this he is endeavoring to arrange for 

Chinese General Ma Chan-Shan to accept the post of 

Minister for War in the Changchun puppet government 

(Witness Powell 3231 and following). In April 1932， 

his work in Manchurie, completed for the tine being, he 
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returned to Japan where he remained until July 1934. 

Ching Teh Chin at page 2334 characterizes 

him as the instigator of the Mukden Incident, and on 

page 2438 tells the Tribunal thst a week before the 

Incident mutual friends of DOHIHARA and himself had 

told him that DOHIHARA wc,s going to Manchuria to em-

bark on some big project. Pu Yi, who would be in a 

position to know, states that at the tine of the 

Incident he was reliably informed that for v/hctever 

accident or incidents thct then happened DOHIHATiA was 

the man who wes pulling the strings behind (page 4124). 

His own government in 193斗 was happy to give him the 

credit of playing en important role as, on the 29th 

of April, he wo.s "decorしted with the Order of Double 

Rays for Meritorious Service in the Incident between 

1931 and 1934" (Exhibit 104). But from April 1932 to 

July 1934 he was a Major-General commanding a brigade 

at Hiroshima 5 Japan, so obviously the services that 

were being requited were those rendered before Mny 1932. 

From the foregoing it appears that DOHIHARA 

was an instructor and very active participant in the 

Manchurian Incident. So fr.r is he from a soldier car-

rying out his duties that many of his actions were in 

defiance of and against the wishes of the government 

by wham he was employed. 
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In J uly 1934 he is back at Mukden with the 

Special Service Organization and again attached to the 

Kwrntung Army. Throughout the period from 1931 to 

1935 the control of opium v,&s vested in the Special 

Service Organization of the Army. Large revenues were 

delivered from it, p.nd these presumably remained with 

the Army until 1935 when the Opium Control Board wcs 

set up and revenue went to the Manchukuo Government 

(Record pages 15855-8). Aftor the Chahar Incident of 

June 1935 he goes to Peiping and represents the Japan-

ese in negotiations to settle the Incident. The final 

terms were such as to greatly weaken the Chinese 

National Government in Chahar (page 2313). On orders 

of the Commander-in-Chief of the Kvrantung Army he 

endeavored to set up an autonomous regime in North 

China. To do this he attempted to estrange the locr.l 

government from the National Government. Ke succeeded 

in setting up the Hopei-Chshar Regime and the East 

Hopei Regime in November 1935， but failed to establish 

the North China autonomous government (2028-2034). 

He exerted pressure on General Sung to proclaim a 

North China autonomous government and made political 

and economic demands the rejection of which, according 

to the evidence of General Ching Teh Chun (2323-2334), 

led up to the Marco Polo Bridge Incident. Confirmation 
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of the attempt to form autonomous government in North 

China is contained in consular telegram to Foreign 

Minister HIROTA on 2 October 1935 (Exhibit 197). 

In February or March 1936 he returned to 

Japan where he remained as Lieutenant General command-

ing a division until 25 August 1937. He then v:ent to 

North China as Commander of the 14th Division &nd took 

part in the drive from Peiping towards Hankow. He 

went to Japen on 1 June 1938, but was sent back to 

China by his government from August 1938 to June 1939 

to see what he could do cbout settling the wc.r。 As 

Chief of the Mission he conducted some negotiations 

with Chiang Kai-Shek, through intermediaries, but 

nothing came of them. From that time onwards he cora-

msnded the 5th Army in Taonan, Manchuria until June 

1940 (Exhibit 2190-A). 

On 29 April 1940 he was decorated vith the 

2d Class of the Golden Kite for meritorious service 

in the Chinese Incident. 

He became Supreme Wc'.r Councillor on 28 Septem-

ber 194-0, a post which he seems to havo held sometimes 

concurrently with other appointments, until March 194-4-, 

He was promoted to General on 28 April 194-1, appointed 

Chief of the Air Inspectorate General on 9 June 194-1. 

On 17 Mcy 1942 (Exhibit 1272) he v;as recommended for 



16,815 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

the German Grand Cross, and エ quote from the citation: 

"By constant, close and friendly cooperation with the 

Air At七ache he has in e leading position contributed, 

in the true sense of the'Tri-Partite Pact, to the ex-

tension and deepening of the military allianee." He 

became Commander of the Eastern District Army on 1 

May 1943 (Exhibit 104). This army command, embraced on 

area around Tokyo (Exhibit 2282) in which prisoners 

of war camps were situated. There is evidence of his 

having visited the Naoetsu Prisoner of War Camp in 

Nigata Prefecture in September or October 1943. At 

this camp 60 prisoners died from starvation and Ill-

treatment. Conditions did not improve after his visit 

(page 14270-14-280) e Article 3 of the Prisoner of War 

Internment Camp Ordinance (Exhibit 92) places respon-

sibility for administration of the camp on the Array 

Commander, end, therefore, DOHIHAHA has a direct 

responsibility for conditions ct this camp and others in 

his area of command and the deaths that resulted 

therefrom. 
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In March 194-4 he became commander of 7th 

Area Army at Singapore and retained that appointment 

until early April 1945 (Exhibit 104). This command 

embraced Malaya, Sumatra, Java and Borneo (Exhibit 

2282). It is sufficient to direct attention generally 

to evidence given as to treatment of prisoners of 

war in those areas and the thousands of murders and 

unnecessary deaths that took place there. For the 

reasons above stated DOHIFARA must take direct re-

sponsibility for treatment of prisoners of war in 

those areas tetween March 1944 and early Arpil 194-5. 

Examples are exhibits 1513A - 1 5 1 6 A， l5lBA, 1528A, 

and Colonel V'ild's evidence, page 5*491. 

It is submitted that DOHIHARA was an active 

participator in the conspiracies alleged at least 

from some time prior to the Manchurian Incident, 

that he continued to participate in them until the 

end, and that he was one of the instigators of the 

Manchurian and Marco Polo Bridge Incidents, that as 

a professional soldier he .furthered the conspiracies 

and committed the crimes alleged against him sometimes 

by exceeding his instructions and duties and at others, 

notably in connection with treatment of prisoners of 

war, by failing to carry out the obligations imposed 

on him "by virtue of his military command. 

w
o
l
f
 &

 Y

 e
1
d
 e
 n
 



16,817-

HASHIMOTO 

His particulars are in Appendix B , page 320. 

The additional documents particularly relating to him 

are exhibits 2185 to 2188. 

His main function in this conspiracy was as 

a propagandist -- his proved activities in this 

direction extending from 1931 (See e.g. Exhibits 1290A 

and 2185) to January 1942 (Exhibit 675A). If OKAWA 

was rather the man v?ho provided the ideas behind the 

conspiracy, HASHIMOTO was a principal among those who 

popularized them. 

Exhibit 734A shows that as early as 1929 he 

was advocating sabotage in the USSR and possible 

military occupation of the Caucasus. 

The evidence of TANAIvA, together with that 

given at OKAWA's trial (Exhibits 2177-2178A and 2231)， 

and exhibit 179F from KIDO's diary, establish the 

leading part he played, while a lieutenant colonel 

in the Army General Staff, in the plotting of the 

Mukden Incident and in all the associated plots of 

that period for the overthrow of the comparatively 

peaceful cabinets in office then in Japan. He 

organized in 1931 the Sakura-Kai and later the 

Dai-Nippon Senen-to, both extremist societies, 

He was serving as an artillery commander in 
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the neighborhood of Nanking at the time of its fall 

and after. He admits that it was he who fired on 

H.M.S. Ladybird although he claims it was by superior 

orders. 

MATSUI 

(Particulars with regard to this accused are 

to be found on page 33〇 of the Summary)• There are no 

additional documents. 

The accused IIATSUI was born on 27 July l8?8. 

He graduated from the Military Staff College and 

after having held various military appointments was 

appointed commander of the 11th Division in 1929 

(Exhibit 115). 

On 9 December 1931 he proceeded to Geneva 

as a delegate to the Disarmament Conference and was 

appointed Supreme War Councillor on 18 March 1933 

(Exhibit 115). 

In 1933 he was appointed commander of the 

Formosan Army Corps and on 28 August 1935 placed on 

the Reserve List. 

On 15 August 1937 he was appointed commander 

of the Shanghai Expeditionary Forces (Exhibit 115). 

On 30 October 1937 he was appointed commander- | 

in-chief of the Central China Expeditionary Forces and 
I 

concurrently commander of the Shanghai Expeditionary 
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Forces (Exhibit 11ラ）. 

MATSUI was released from service on 5 March 

1938 and on 20 July 1938 was appointed a Cabinet 

Councillor, which appointment he held until 23 Jan-

uair 1940 (Exhibit 115). 

On 5 July 1939 he was appointed to the 

Committee of the East Asia Commission. 

Fjxhibit 168，page 1674, dated 8 July 194-2, 

discloses that he was vice-president of the Greater 

Japan East Asia Prosperity Alliance and advisor to 

the Japan Imperial Rule Assistance Headquarters Adult 

Corps. The same exhibit discloses that he was advisor 

to the Central Headquarters of the Greater Japan 

Imperial Rule Assistance Association. 

On 29 April 1934 he was decorated with the 

Grand Cordon of the Rising Sun for meritorious service 

during the war 1931-1934; and 2つ April 1940 he was 

I decorated with the First Class Order of the Golden Kite 

for meritorious war service during the China Incident 

(Exhibit 1 1 5 ) . . 

At the time of the Ladybird and Panay 

Incidents, MATSUI was commander of the Central China 

Expeditionary Forces, which consisted of two armies, 

one commanded by Prince ASAKA and the other by Lieuten-

ant General YANAGAWA. While it is clear from the 
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interrogation of the accused HASHIMOTO that the order 

to sink all vessels proceeding towards Nanking, 

without regard to their nationality (Exhibit 2188, 

page 15,678), was issued by Lieutenant General YANAGAWA, 

it is submitted with or without that evidence that as 

commander of the entire forces responsibility for the 

order falls upon the accused MATSUI. 

Prior to the attack upon Nanking, MATrui 

issued a proclamation which was widely distributed by 

airplane, declaring that the Japanese Army had only-

good will for the peaceful citizens of China and.would 

do no harm to those who did not resist the Imperial 

Army (page 263ど?，Dr. M. S. Bates). 

The troops that entered Nanking from the 

13th to l6th of December 1937 were experienced troops 

officered by experienced men (Exhibit 257, page 3460， 

interrogation of MATSUI). 

The evidence discloses that there was no 

resistance in the city on the part of the Chinese 

(page 2628， Dr. M. S. Bates). 

Page 3894, John G. Magee, there is also 

evidence that on the 1 3 t h of December all Chinese 

soldiers had left the city (page 2558, witness Hsu-Chuan 

Ying). 

On the 17 December 1937 MATSUI entered the 
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city and a military review was held which was followed 

on the l8t,h of December by a memorial service and a 

press release by General MATSUI dated the 18th December 

1937 (Exhibit 262, page 351。） states that the army 

having become considerably exhausted it is necessary 

for troops in general to take a little rest because 

the army has been engaged in unremitting landing oper-

ations for four months. 

The accused MATSUI loft Nanking one week 

after his entry on 17 December when he returned to 

Shanghai. (Exhibit 25.7, page 3^-59, interrogation of 

MATSUI). 

Evidence of Dr. E. 0. Wilson (page 2^36), 

G. A. Fitch 'page 44-60), Dr. M . S. Bates (pages 2629, 

2630) and John G. Magee (page 3894-) makes it clear 

that thousands of civilians, including women and 

children, were killed ty Japanese soldiers inside the 

walls of the city and thousands more were marched to 

the bank of the Yangtze River and mowed down Toy machine 

gun fire. 

The witness, Dr. M. S. Bates, further states 

that more than 30,000 soldiers who had surrendered and 

laid down their arms wore cut down by machine gun fire 

within tho first seventy-two hours immediately outside 

the walls of the city. (Page 2630). 
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.Exhibit 324, page 4-537, being a. chart showing 

victims buried, shows a total of 155,337,珂hile exhibit 

327, page 454-7, being a report on war crimes at Nanking 

prepared by the procurator of the district court, states 

that the number of victims killed totalled 278,586. 

There were thousands of cases of rape (page 

2634, Dr. M. S. Bates) and looting v/as carried on on 

a vast scale. In some cases it was well organized 

and fleets of armed trucks under the direction of 

officers were used to remove the stolon property 

(page 2 6 3 ラ ） . A p p r o x i m a t e l y one-third of the city was 

destroyed by fire (page 4592, Exhibit 329). 

A German Foreign Office in China report 

(page 4604, Exhibit 329) states that the fall of Nanking 

clearly shows a lack of discipline, atrocities and 

criminal acts not of an individual but of an entire 

army. In our submission much of it must he.ve laeen 

deliberately ordered. 

Both Dr. Bates (page 2644) and John G. Magee 

(page 3928) state that there were an inadequate number 

of military police available in Nanking and that the 

gqridarmes began to do the same thinps the soldiers 

were doing. 

The evidence shows that complaints were made 

almost daily to the Japanese Embassy at Nanking (page 
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3922) and, reports from mombers of the diplomatic corps 

and their press men that the Japanese Army at Nanking 

had committed atrocities were reported to the Foreign 

Office (ITO, page 3506). 

The atrocities continued for weeks after the 

fall of the city and Dr. Bates states (page 2644) that 

after February 6 and 7 there was a notable improvement 

in the situation and although many serious cases occurred 

between then and the summer they were no longer of a 

mass or wholesale character. 

Mr. Magee (page 3922) statos that after about 

six weeks it began to taper off, although many individ-

ual things happened after that. 

The witness, Hsu-Chuan-Ying at pc.ge 2954 

says that the Japanese authorities did not try to 

stop the atrocities and not a single proclamation or 

notice was put up on the street to stop them. Both 

John G. Magee (page 3941) and Dr. Bates (page 2642) 

say that there was no serious effort made to stop the 

atrocities. 

It is interesting to note that so far as 

punishments wc-re concerned, FATSUI's recollection is 

that the only entries in his diary concerned the 

court martial of an officer, r.nd perhaps three soldiers, 

in connection with rape of Chinese ’-orv~n In F-.nking. 
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,MATSUI returned to Japan in February of 

1938 and was succeeded by General RATA on the 17 

Febr lary 1938 (Exhibit 256, page 3445). Upon his 

return, according to his interrogation (page 34-64) 

MATSUI was not asked to make a report but states that 

while he does not know for certain there must have 

bocr investigations and reports. That his recall 

v:as merely -rindow-dressing is shown by his appoint-

ment within a few months as Cabinet Councillor and 

his subsequent high decoration for his services. 

With regard to his political activities, in 

1929 MATSUI, in his capacity as director of the 

Sccond Scction of the G e n e m l Staff, called a mooting 

in Berlin of all the military attaches in European 

countries (interrogation of MATSUI, Exhibit 733A， 

page 7644) at ^liich meeting there was discussed 

sabotage measures to bo taken in case of war v;ith 

the USSR and a survey of the future activities of 

WhitG Russians in foreign countries and the intelligence 

ヲork against the USSR by Japanese military attaches 

stationed outside of that country. 

Exhibit 732A， page 7658, the witness, General 

Ching Teh-chun, states that in the autumn of 1935 

MATSUI \ms in Peiping hoping to establish a branch of 

the Greater East Asia Association and advocated in his 
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conversation with General Ching that Asia should 

bo the Asia of the Asiatics し！id. thr.t European and 

American influGnccs should be expelled (page 2317). 

On the 14 July 1937, according to KIDO's 

dir.ry, MATSUI ce.lled and he talked on matters such as 

discontinuing the dispatch of troops to North China 

and becamG indignant (Exhibit 2254, page 16217) and 

the affidavit of Y A M G I T A , commander of the Kwantung 

Province Defense Army, doscribcs MATSUI as one of the 

military authorities in Tokyo active in the occupation 

of Manchuria (Exhibit 723, page 7580). 

At the time of bis arrest MATSUI was president 

of the League for tho Revival of Greater East Asia 

and belonged to s-. number of Po.n-Asiatic organizations 

(interrogation of MATSUI, Exhibit 733A, page 7644). 

It is submitted that MATSUI was a member of 

the conspiracy throughout the entire period charged 

and the motion made on his behalf should be dismissed. 
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HATA 

The particulars with regard to HATA, Fhunroku 

arc to bp found in Appendix B，page 321 of the f=ummary. 

No additional documents were presented at the conclusion 

with regard to this accused. 

It appears from his interrogation (Exhibit 

2bo) that the date given in these particulars for the 

termination of his first period in China, taken from 

his personnel record, is inaccurate and that he was 

in fact there until November 1938, being a Military-

Councillor concurrently* On the other hand his command 

was during that period confined to Central China. 

This accused participated in Japan*s ov.erall 

aggrpssion in at least three different w a y s : ( 1 ) H o 

carried on aggressive warfare in China at two different 

periods of time as commasider of various armies in China. 

(2) As Minister of War frora August 30,1939 to July 

22,19^-0, he helped determine the national policy and 

worked on the plans aiad preparations for aggressive 

war during that period； and (3) He was one of the 

prime movers in the overthrow of the YONAI Cabinet 

thus giving now direction and expansion to the entire-

conspiracy. 

After srrving for many years in the Army, the 

accusod at the time of tho outbreak of the Iferco Polウ 
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Bridge- Incident -was commander of the Formssan Array. 

In August 1937, shortly after the outbreak,' he was 

recalled to Tokyo to become Inspector General of 

?!ilitary Education, one of the three highest offices 

in Japan which controlled army policy and, through 

its control of tho War Minister, could effectively 

coiitrol cabinet and other governmental policy and 

decision, (Exhibit 102). At the very outset cf the 

China Incident, tho accused was In a strong strategic 

position to affect policy. On February 1 4 , 1 9 3 8 , the 

accused was appointed to succeed the accused HATiPUI 
‘ 

as Chiof of the Expeditionary Forces to Central China 

(Exhibit 102) and admittedly assumed command on 

February 17th„ (Record 344-5). Ho remained there until 

November and while there he directed the seiee and 

capture cf the city of Hang'-ow (Record 344-7-34-51； Exhibit 

256). 

After his return from China he occupied tho 

position of military counsellor and frora May 2ヲ，1939 

to August 30,194-0, he was chief aide de canp to the 

Emperor. On Aug^sst 30，1939 he became Minister of War 

in the ABE Cabinet and remained as such throughout 

the ABE and YONAI Cabinets until July 22,19^0< During 

his administration several of the important acts involving 

furtherance of the conspiracy were carried out. Certain | 
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industries such as thr Cast Iron Manufacturing Facilities 

industry v;ere brought under control, (Record, page 

8327， 8403, 8299). On October 12,1939, the accused 

appointed the accused MUTO as Chief cf the highly 

important Military Affairs Bureau in the War Ministry 

and as a member of several government bodies such as 

the Planning Board, Manchurian Affairs Board and the 

Cabinet Information Board (Exhibits 102 and 118). 

In November, Inp^rial General Headquarters, which had 

never be^n established hf-rrtofore oxenpt in casn of 

war, was set up (Exhibit 80)。 During the ABE Cabinet 

in November 1939， pressure was put on France to give 

Japan special rights in French Indっ-China (Exhibits 

616-A, 618-A), fhortly after thr YONAI Cabinet was 

formed on January 16,1940, presaurp wa5 put on the 

Netherlands for special rights in the Dutch East 

Indies (Exhibit 1309-A), On February 16th, the Military 

Mission at Harbin drew up a plan for establishing a 

Far Eastern Anti-Comintrrn t^ unite sabotage activities 

against the Soviet Union (Exhibit 73^). During this 

administration thf̂  economic policy for relieving Japan 

of its dependency on the United states for military 

goods necessary to carry out tho divine war was 

adopted (Exhibit 1007)« During the same month of March 

the progran of the Kwantung Army for Aggression against 
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thp Soviet vjas sanctioned (Exhibit 705). On March 30th 

the puppet Central Government of Wang Ching Wei at 

Nanking was established (Exhibit 276-A). fevnrer 

regulations were put into nffect by thn War Ministry 

with respect to military training in schools (Exhibit 

137). The accused attended the four ministers conference 

7 I of Juno 1 8 , 1 9 4 0 , which decided to nake certain requests 

upon France, and in the event of refusal to use force 

9 ' (Exhibit 619)• Following this a further program 

of pressure was put into effect against France (Exhibits 

615-A，618-A). 

In the racanting the aggressive war was being 

pushed ahead in China. In March 1940, the accused as 

: W a r Minister made it clear that Japan Ts progress would 

not be stopped by the Nine Power Treaty (Exhibit ヲ14). 

Throughout his administration, efforts at 

reviving the proposed pact with Germany were constantly 

being made. On July 12th and l6th, 1940, there were 

joint conferences between the War, Navy and Foreign 

Offices, in which it was decided that th^re was a 

strong demand for the conclusion of a military alliance 

with Germany and Italy to realize Japan's plan for 

expansion in East Asia and the t-'outh ^eas, whereby 

Japan and Germany would respectively support each 

other's policios (Exhibits ?27, 528). 
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To bring abnut an agreement with Germany 

and Italy the military had decided that the YONAI 

Cabinet was unfitted for the task. On July 8th this 

accused had let it be known that the YONAI Cabinet was 

not suitable to negotiate with Germany and Italy 

(Exhibit 532) in view cf the then world situation. 

On July 16th HATA submitted his resignation and at the 

Three Officers Meeting cf which the accused was a 

menber, it was found impossible to nane a successor and 

the Cabinet was corapellrd to resign en nasse (Exhibit 

11 532). As War Minister the accused was one of the three 

12 丨 raen who deterninpd whether or not the War Minister 

13 丨 would resign and who, if anjr'ne, would be allowed to 

become his successor. Whil^ it is true that control 

of the army was divided between natters of administration, 

being handled through the Cabinet and natters cf high 

1 7 丨 conmand, it should not be overlooked as learned counsel 

1 8 丨 for tho defense has overlookod that the War Minister 

1 9 ！ himself had a dual role. The evidence is clrar that 

on the one hand hp was in charge of administration for 

the cabinet, while on tho other hand he vjas a nember 

of the high cっmraand, w°o far as policy is distinguished 
27. I 

from operations is concerned, in the carrying out cf 

which function he was not subject to cabinet control. 

HATA, as a number of the group of Three Officers Meeting 
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had to concur in all three actions t a k e n : ( 1 ) t h e 

determination of his own resignation; (2) the refusal 

to appoint a successor, and (3) thp designation of a 

successor in the new cabinet. In all three decisions 

the accused HATA played an active rolr. As his last 

official act as War Minister he put into office as 

War Minister the accused TOJO, having designated him 

to the Erappror before KONOYE had r.ade known his new 

cabinet. (Exhibit 532). 

From March 1 , 1 9 4 1 to November 22，19^4, the 

accused was conraander in ohirf of the Expeditionary 

Forces to China (Exhibits 102, 106). Exhibits 1887 

to 1915, describe the conditions and trratnont of 

prisoners of 观ar and civilian internees during his 

administration and while, ho v;as cotnnander in the area 

with basic responsibility for tho handling of prisoners 

of war there. (Exhibit 1991) HATA on 13 August 194-2 

issued regulations for punishnnnt of eneny air crows 

providing for death penalty. 

He is charged in Count 45 with responsibility 

for the attack upon and rape of Nanking, wh^n he hela 

his important post at the ？fer Ministry, and in Counts 

47-5*0 with similar attacks upon and outrages in other 

cities in China which have bpen provpd to have taken 

place at dates when by his o~m account he was commander 
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in chief cf the Expeditionary Forces in the parts 

of China concerned. î ee record,page 3392-9 and 

4609 as to Hankow, Count 47; page 4612-3 as to Changsha 

Count 48; page 4611-2 as to Hangyang, Count 49; page 

4653-4- as to Kweilin and Liuchow, Count see aslo 

Exhibits 331-42, 344, 3ヲ0， 351, 360. The attack on 

Canton, Count 46 was niade by the Fouth China force and 

he can only be held rest ensiule f or that on the basis 

that it was an act of the conspiracy of which contend 

he was a member. Evidence is page 4648~5"0, In our 

subnission these charges, which are based both upon 

the unlawful character of the 耵ar and the barbarous 

manner of conducting it, are adequately established, 

as well as tbs charges under Counts 44 and 53-55* 

THE PRESIDENT:巧ナつuld you suggest this is 

a convenient break, Mr. Carr? This night be a con-

venient break. 

MR. COIIYNF CARR: If your Honor please. 

THE PRESIDENT: We adjourn until half-past one* 

(Whereupon, at 1200, a recess was taken.) 
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L ] S M L OF THE COURT: The International 

Ili'litary Tribunal for the Fc.r East is now resumed. 

THE PRESIDENTS Mr. SHIMANOUCHI. 

m . SHIIIANOUCHI: Mr. President, on 

Thursday last エ made a statement to the Tribunal 

which is an error. In tendering exhibit 2230, 

Associate Prosecutor, Mr. Tavonner stated that 

in May 1939 OSHIMil refused to carry out certain 

instructions from his government. To this I 

replied that O S H I M shortly afterwards comnrani-

cated the instructions from the Japanese Govern-

ment to the German Government, and that this was 

clear from the document introduced by the prosecu-

tion last year. However, after examining the 

rucord, it was found thct the document introduced 

by the prosecution last year and the document 

referred to by me was exhibit 5。6. It states: 

11 It had not been possible for OSHIMA to act 

directly contrary to his Government..... OSHIMA 

had postponed the fulfillment of the demnrche until 

now." Moreover, this relates to other matters in 

September 1939, and does not concern matters in 

May 1939, as referred to by Mr. Tavenner. 

I respectfully request, therefore, that 

rr.y statement found on page 15,992 of the record, 
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linus 20 to 2 5， be stricken, and I hereby tender 

ny humble apology. I spoke of this matter to 

Mr. Tavenner two or three days ago when I net him, 

r.nd I had intended to make this correction yester-

dny norning and had handed the draft of ny state-

ment to the interpreters, but I v/r‘s \mable to find 

the occasion until now. 

Thank you. 

THE PRESIDENT: The correction is noted. 

There is no need for your apology, as you spoke 

in all good faith. 

Mr. Cjmyns Carr. 

I.jR. C0I.IYNS C/Om ； Your Honor, before I 

proceed with the next case, I would like to men-

tion a matter with respect to MATSUI. I under-

stand that the defense challenged the statement 

that the accused MATSUI is the person referred to 

in exhibit 2254, a KIDO Dairy entry of July 14, 

1937. The diary entry only gives the surname, 

but as the only other MATSUI who has so far been 

mentioned in this case was in China on that date 

there is some material for saying that this 

entry must be this MATSUI. But I cm content that 

you should disregard the matter until it is 

cleared up 
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KAYA 

The particulars in his case are on page 

326 of the summary. There are no additional 

documents. 

HG was a finance official throughout, 

one of those who passed to and fro between what 

we should call Parliamentary and Civil Service 

positions. We submit that this was つart of the 

pernicious system by which the government of 

Japan was taken in 1937 out of the hands of those 

who had sone kind of responsibility to the people 

of Japan, and handed over to bureaucrats such 

as KAYA. But we also submit that those bureau-

crats had just as much responsibility for their 

acts as any other holder of Parliamentary office. 

The extracts given do not indicate more than a 

few of the numerous offices be held, which may 

be seen in exhibit 11,and show tbft from time 

to time he had a finger in a great many pies. 

He was Vice-Finance Minister 2 February -

4 June 1937 in the HAYASHI Cabinet, and Minister 

from then until 26 May 1938 in the 1st KONOYE 

Cabinet. The first tjeriod s?.w adoption of the 

5-year plan for steel, of the 3rd Administration 

policy towards China (exhibit 218) the idea being 



16,836 

to obtcin material for munition industries. Many 

measures relating to the control of Japanese in-

dustry and development for war purposes were 

started. No sooner had he become Finance Minis-

ter than the main 5-year plan was adopted and 

vigorously vv.t into execution throughout his 

period. rrhen the new "Uhina Incident" broke out 

he was a party to the Cabinet decision of July 

11th to extend it. From then on he shares the 

responsibility which I have already described in 

other cases for the whole course of the Chinese 

aggression and the rape of Nanking. I do not 

propose to repeat even the very brief account of 

this period which エ have already given. It can 

be more fully studied in the sumriary, pages 45-71, 

and "bv reference to the evidence there quoted. 

We submit thct it -was one of the worst periods 

of Japan 1s career of aggression. Soon after he 

left the post of Finance Minister he became an 

adviser to his successor, and on 14- August 1939 

he beorme president of the North China Devijlop-

ip^nt Company. This was an official organization 

formed to promote the Japanese policy of control-

ling and developing the economics of North China 

in the interest of the Japanese forces and for 
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building up munitions supply. See the testimony 

of Liebert, page 8474, ^nd exhibit 459A. r'e sub-

mit that in this office he was promoting the 

conspiracy just as much as if he had continued to 

hold Cabinet rank. 

On October 1 8 , 1 9 4 1 he again became 

Finance Minister in the TOJO Cabinet, and so con-

tinued until February 1 9 , 1 9 4 4 . He was thus a 

member of the Cabinet responsible for starting 

rind continuing the Pacific War. He was responsible 

for the decision on 31 October to issue the 

military currency for the areas proposed to be 

occupied (exhibit 852). He was one of the four 

Ministers who answered at t he same time the question 

propounded by the Liaison Conference (exhibits 

1328， 1329) as to the probable effects of war. 

The Cabinets of which he ^as a member decided on 

4 November (exhibit H 6 7 ) to conceal from the 

Japanese public all information as to war prepa-

rations and give them hope for the future, and 

on ？8 November to put the press on a war-tine 

basis. He attended the Imperial Conference of 

5 November which in effect decided on war. He 

was present at the fatal Imperial Conference of 

December 1st, and assented to the final decision 
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to make war (exhibits 588, 1107); and shares the 

responsibility with other members of the Cabinet 

for all that was done in that connection. 

He attended the Privy Council meeting 

on December 8th (exhibit 1241) which approved the 

issue of the declaration of war virhen they knew 

very well the war had started some hours earlier, 

and heard TOJO say that the negotiations had only 

been continued since December 1st for tho sake 

of strategy, and tl.r.t the avoidance of a decla-

ration against the Nt•.セherlsnds was for strategic 

convenience. He took part in this discussion. 

He heard the secretaries report that they had been 

inforned by TOJO £t 8:00 p. m. on December 7th 

th# t the declaration would come during the day. 

He :々 nde no protest, expressed no surprise, and 

retained office. Wg sutrait the irresistable 

inference is that none of it was news to him. 

He attended the Privy Council meeting on 10 

December on the agreement with Germany and Italy 

for joint waging of war against United States 

and Britain, no separate peace, and collaboration 

for a new order (exhibit 1267)• 

Both these meetings he attended, not 

ss a member of the Privy Council, to receive 
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information and pass "upon it, a responsibility 

serious enough, but as a member of the govern-

ment , t o explain and defend their action. 

When he finally left office on 19 

February 1944 he again promptly became an ad-

viser to the Finance Ministry until the surrender. 

,fJith regard to B and C offenses he not 

only had the responsibility of every member of 

the Cabinet during his two main periods of of-

fice, which I have described above, but it is 

impossible to conceive that such a large opera-

tion as the construction of the Burma-Siam 

railway could have been carried out without 

consultation with and consent of the Minister 

of Finance. If he v/es ignorant of the outrages 

in China, and throughout t he theatres of the 

Pacific War, which is incredible, it could only 

have been by deliberate abstention from using 

the obvious sources of knowledge, vniich it was 

his duty to invoke• 
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HIKAITOIIIA 

The particulars with regard to him are on 

page 322 of the Summary. Additional document spe-

cially relative to him is exhibit 229, speech as 

Premier in March 1939. 

He was the founder and president of the 

Kokuhonsha, a rightist society (Ex. 164), and at the 

same time vice-president of the Privy Council from 

1926 until he became president on March 13，1936. 

For that purpose he was compelled to resign from the 

kokuhonsha which was dissolved. He remained presi-

dent of the Privy Council and also a cabinet 

councillor -- pausing there, there seems to be some 

doubt as to whether the entry in the personnel re-

cord concerned cabinet councillor or some other kind 

of councillor -- until he became Premier on 5 January 

1939. During all his service in the former capacities 

we submit that the positions he held not only gave 

him the opportunity of passing judgment upon all the 

principal decisions taken, e specially with regard to 

international agreements, but gave him the power to 

register his objections, if any, to the general 

policies pursued. As he continued to hold his 

offices he must be taken to have accepted then. 

23 In particular on 13 September 1932 (Ex. 241) he 
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approved the proposed agreement between Japan and 

Manchukuo, baaed on recognition of the latter's so-

called independence. On 3 July 1935 he approved a 

similar agreement for a joing economic committee 

(Ex. 850). On 25 November 1936 he approved the 

Anti-Comintern Pact (Ex. 485). On 20 January 1937 

he approved the bill relative to the forma、tion cf 

a South Seas government department (Ex. 909-A). On 

6 November 1937 he approved the admission of Italy 

into the Pact (Ex. 492). On 2 November 1938 he 

agreed to the final withdrawal of Japan from the 

League of Nations because of the attitude of the 

League to the "China affair." On 22 Kovember 1938 

he approved the cultural agreement with Germany, 

the political influence of which was mentioned at 

the meeting. hs a councillor he was there to advise 

on the whole of the early stages of the China affair, 

and could have made his protest, but he retained 

his offices. In exhibit 2265 KIDO records a talk 

with him on 26 December 1938 about a plot to establish 

the puppet government of China, and he insisted that 

KONOYE should remain Premier td see it through. 

His Premiership from 5 January to 30 August 

1939 was chiefly remarkable for the negotiations for 

a military alliance with Germany and Italy, which only 
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fell through because of the German-Russian Non-

Aggression Pact, which caused his resignation. 

At the outset SHIRATORI reports him to 

Ciano as openly in favor of it (Ex. 499-A). On 22 

February he attended as Premier a Privy Council 

meeting which approved the admission of Hungary and 

Msnchukuo to the existing pact. On May 6th Ott 

reports that he has reconciled the conflicting views 

of ITAGAKI and others in his cabinet and that the 

treaty may therefore go through. He seems to have 

wanted the alliance to be directed ma inly against 

Russia (Ex. 501)• 

In the speech to the Diet above mentioned 

(Ex. 2229-A) he said that those who resisted Japan 

in China must be exterminated. 

During this period the 5-year plans, the 

narcotization of China, the consolidation of pro-

Japanese regimes there, the interference with the 

trade of other countries, and the Chinese aggression 

generally (see for example Ex. 998 and 272) made 

steady progress. The hold of the government over 

mecns of propaganda was strengthened by the Motion 

Picture Law (Ex. 155)• 

Other major events of this period were (1) 

the forcible occupation of Hainan Island in February 
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in spite of protests from the United States, Britain 

and France (Ex. 613-A). (2) The aggression against 

the U.S.S.R. and Mongolian Republic in May (Ex.766). 

In June occurred the mistreatment of British 

subjects in Tientsin (Ex. 1003)• In feet, the 

EIKANUMA Cabinet was no less aggressive in every 

direction than its predecessor. 

HIRANUMA returned to office as Minister of 

Stoto in the second KONOYE Cabinet, on 6 December 

194-0, becoming Home Minister on 21 December until the 

formation of tho third KONOYE Cabinet on 17 July 

1941, when he again became Minister of State until 

its fall on 17 October. He w?s not included in the 

TOJO Cabinet. By joining KONOYE (Whose appointment 

he had supported, Ex. 532) he adopted the Tri-Partite 

Pact which he had tried to negotiate himself, and while 

he held office he was responsible for the whole of tho 

aggressive preparations, acts, and resolutions of 

that long period. In particular he attended almost 

all of the many Liaison Conferences in the first 

six months of 194-1 (Ex. 1103), and the Imperial Con-

ference of July 2 (Ex, 588, 779 and 1107)* Whether 

he continued to attend Liaison Conferences after 

July we do not know, because publication was stopped. 

He did not attend the Imperial Conference of September 
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6th, but as a member of the cabinet was responsible 

for its momentous decision. We would again point 

out that the subsequent attempt of some members of 

the KONOYE Cabinet to recede from this was not a 

matter of principle but purely of expediency, owing 

to the doubts of OIKAV/A, the then Navy Minister as 

to the success of war. We do not know HIRA而MA's 

par七,if any, in this discussion. He attended the 

fateful ex-preaiiers' meeting of November 29th 

(Ex. 1196). He made no protest against war. On the 

contrary he said that public sentiment must be 

braced up to face yt. 

His next appearance is on 17 July 194-4, 

when a meeting of ex-premiers was held at his house 

to consider replacing the TOJO Cabinet, not to bring 

the war to an end, but ••'build a powerful national 

cabinet which will surge forward unswervingly." 

(Ex. 1277). The next day, TOJO having resigned he 

attended the official conference to choose his 

successor (Ex. 1278). He advocated a military man, 

suggested Admiral SUZUKI, Kantaro, and finally re-

commended TKRAUCHI, Koiso, HATA, or a naval man. 

When KOISO re-signed he again attended the 

Conference (Ex. 1282) and ssid they must fight to 

the end. He wanted to recommend the principal 



jministers as well习s the Premier. Ke strongly 

1
 opposed any advocacy for peace. He again recommended 

a military or naval man, finally proposing Admiral 

SUZUKI, Kantaro, who had expressed his readiness 

to die fighting for the Emperor. 

In our submission HIRANUMA was a member of 

this conspiracy and every phase of it, from start to 

finish. 
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KIDO 

The particulars with regard to him are to 

be found on page 329 of the summary. To paragraph 

3, the exhibit numbers of extracts from his diary 

now have to be added: 1985, 1986,1987, 2191, 2192 

and 2251 to 2280. Exhibit 2250 is a writing by 

11m r and exhibits 266， 1189,螂Inich is replaced by 

2249, and 1193 psrticu.larly refer to him. 

Tトese documents are the main source of 

information about hira. In our submission when one 

reads them (as a whole and not by quoting half-

sentences , as in the motion) one is driven to the 

following conclusions： 

1 . H e was a strong and influential 

character. From the beginning, when he held the 

comparatively minor office of Cbief' Secretary to 

the Lord Keeper of the Privy Seal he was frequently-

consulted. by people then more important than him-

self, who took his advice. Every off ice thst he 

held he made more important than it would bave 

been in the hands of most men. In his later offices 

he was almost alv;sys consulted, not only about 

policy, but frequently about appointments to Cabinet 

office. 

D
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2。 He was a cautious man. He was not so 
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mucb concerned with the right or wrong of. any 

policy as with tbe risks accompanying it. 

3. His particular concern was always to 

avoid internal quarrels in Japan. He did not so 

much mind wbat they apreed upon as long as they 

agreed. He was in the es.rly days against consti-

tutional innovations, but chpnped this attitude 

later. 

9！ 4. His attitude to the Emperor was to 

dissuade M m from taking a firm line about any-

n t ying for fear it should bring him into controversy. 

% He was a wbole-hearted adherent of 

K0N0YE until K0N0YE fell, when he transferred, 

his allegiance to TOJO. 

6. He was or became in favor of Japanese 

aggression, but also of caution and delay in apply— 

1 7 I ing it. 

1 8 ！ In the beginning he was anti-militarist 

レ丨 and we do not suggest that be was one of the original 

20 

21 

22 

2 3 

2 4 
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conspirators. Even then, however, the above-

mentioned attitudes are illustrated by exhibits 

179-E，of September 1 0 , 1 9 3 1 , 179-1, of September 

22 and 22 51 of January 28,1へ32， which show that 

he was not against the Manchurian aggression on 

principle, but because the army was getting too 
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powerful, and was against the Emperor doing anything 

to stop it. 

ワe submit that be fully joined the con-

spiracy in 1937, when he became Education Minister 

on 22nd October and Welfare Minister on 11th 

January 1938 (concurrent until 26th May). By the 

time he joined, the domination of Manchuria was 

complete, the cabinet v?as fully committed to the 

extension of the China aggression, having decided 

on 11th July to send more troops and push forward 

although the original incident viss being settled 

locally. The cabinet was also committed to the 

five-year plan in Japan and Manchuria. The offices 

held by KIDO bad no direct connection with war 

rv5licy, but exhibits 2255 to 2261 show that he took 

a prominent part in it and approved of all the fatal 

decisions taken. Exhibit 2257 in psrticulsr shows that 

he knew this was an offensive operation and that the 

talk of self defense was all humbug. 

It is remarkable thst he makes no reference 

to the horrors of Nanking, although tbey were in 

full force from 11 December 1937 to 6 February 1938， 

when the situation began to improve. The indigna-

tion of the v/orld cannot have been unknown to M m 

and the cabinet, but nothing was done to stop them 



"until MATSUI- was recalled on 5 March and made an 

adviser to the cabinet of which KIDO was a member 

on 20 July. KIDO may not have been responsible for 

the outbreak of tbis orgy of atrocities, but he was 

certainly to "blame for its . -^ntinuance. 

During his time as Minister of Education 

tbrre was published in the Tokyo Gazette exhibit 

266, "Tbe Japanese Spirit." We submit that it is 

inconceivable that this would have appeared without 

the full knowledge and approval of the Minister, 

especially a men of KIDO's character as revealed by 

his diary. Tbfe, srticle preached full support of all 

that had happened in China dov/n to f.nd including the 

refusal' to deal with Chiang Kai-Shf5k. Also, the ideal 

of Greater East Asia under Japanese leadership, and 

the welding of all Japanese into & unified state. 

That these were his opinions is shown by the diary 

extracts quoted. 

He continued in the HIRANU|/[A cabinet as 

Fome Minister, thus having an unbrolken period of 

cabinet office from 22 October 193 7 to 30 August 

1939- We submit that he has a geno^al responsibility 

for all the events of this period, ahown on pages 

55 to 100 of the summary. In particular for the two 

25 
aggressions against the USSR, in tho summers of 1938 
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and 1939， During this period the following exhibits 

show his activities in support of military alliance 

with Germany and Italy and bis knowledge of Germany
1
s 

aggressive intentions: 2262, 2268 to -71, 775. 

submit that if his activities had stopped 

here there is ample material on which he should be 

convicted on the conspiracy and the counts relating 

to C M r a . These sre in fact the guide to understend-

ing later events. 

KIDO was ore of the protagonists in the 

formation of t^e nev/ one-party political system in 

Japan on the Fascist model. Exhibits 2263， 2274 to 

2276. He would bsve been its Vice-President under 

K01T丨YE, had he not decided on 1 June 1940 (exhibit 

2276) to accept the office of Lord Keeper of the 

Privy Seal instead. His position in this office was 

largely made by himself. His views as to the duties 

of his position are to be found in exhibits 2273 

and 1066； it amounted to this, tbat the Lord Keeper 

ras the Emperor's principal adviser, especially on 

foreign affairs. He developed a new function, that 

of advising the Emperor on the choice of every new 

premier, with the assistance of the ex-premiers and 

the president of the Ft ivy C o u n c i l . ^ e n he was out 

of office (exhibit 2273) he thought the Lord Keeper 
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should not interfere in this, but when he became 

Lord Keeper l°e dropped this idea and took upon 

himself the duty of advising the Emperor on this 

question, ettac^ing such weight as he thought fit to 

the vievs of tbe ex-premiers and managing to "bring 

at least a majority of them to tbe view he hsd usually 

formed in ac'vence. By these means he was responsible 

for the choice of KONOYE on 17 July 19^-0 (exhibit 532) 

and again on 17 July 1941(exhibit 1117); of TOJO on 

17 October 1941 (exl'ibit 2?50); of KOISO on 18 

July 1944 (exhibit 1278)； and of Admiral SUZUKI, 

Fantaro, on 5 April 194-5 (exhibit 1282). 

Fis e.ttitudf to^grds the United States, 

Greet Brits in and the Netherlsnc's appears from ex-

hibits 2272, 2277， 619, 1294, 627, 1065, 1095, 1125, 

1129, 1 1 3 0 , 1146, 1239, 1 2 7 6 . It may be surensrized by 

saj^ing tl'-at it was et least from 19^-0 on， hostile 

though cautious. It is quite clear that he supported 

the expansionist policy at the expense of these 

countries but considered that Japan needed a longer 

period of preparation before putting it into effect. 

But when those favourinj? imnediste action prevailed, 

he fell in with their view. 

Perhaps the most important of these is 

exhibit 1130, wbere he advocates & ten-year post-
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ponement sof the Edvance to the southern regions, 

and meanwhile friendly relations v.'ith the United 

States wl"ile intensive preparations pre pushed on. 

No doubt if his advice had been taken we should not 

be holding this trial today; and if he had resigned 

when it was rejected v>e rrifht not have included him 

except with regerd to Cbina. Fe did not, and this 

document proves him an aggressor rt heart. Even in 

exhibit 1270 of January 194-4, when he was consider-

ing the possibility and necessity of a compromise 

peace, though he did noticing ebout it, be suggested 

t.h£.t after peece Japan should build up cooperation 

v'itb the USSR and China against Britain and America. 

An important aspect of his esse centers 

round the appointment of TOJO as premier on October 

1 7 , 1 9 4 1 . It is quite clear fron exhibit 2250 

that he h&ci. determined on this before the ex-premiers 

met to consider it. He knev: very well that TOJO 

トsd been pressing for immediate war, and was only 

restrained by the cautious r-ttitude of tire navy. It 

is true tbat he succeeded in inducing TOJO to abandon 

the resolution of the Imperial Conference of 

September 6 for war in mid-October, and to prolong 

the nefotiatlons, but he made no attempt to induce 

him to adopt an attitude towards them which would 
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crucial point is that in this dispute between the 

army snd the navy, which we.s not concerned with the 

merits of war, but only with its prospects of 

success, he not only procured TOJO's appointment as 

premier, but induced tbe Emperor to give, or gsve in 

the Emperor' s name, an instruction tn tine navy which 

cnuld only mean thet t^ey should appoint a Navy 

I'inister would do vbatever TOJO told them. They 

appointed SPIIFADA—and he did. KIDO was intelligent 

enough to know thrt there vies not the slightest 

hope of or justificetion for the United States cdopt-

ing any terms to which TOJO would Fprec, &nd thrt the 

arrrngements which he nade could not postpone war for 

more than a few weeks. It is significant thft he 

makes it cleer in exhibits 1196 and 225。 thst he 

rejected the eppnintment suggested by 7/AKATSUKI end 

others, of General UGAKI, the only mEn who might 

perhaps h&ve averted war altogether. It is also 

significant thrt in exhibit 22^0, written in November, 

he abandoned altogether the excuse for appointing 

TOJO which he hed given the Emperor on 2 October 

(exhibit 1155). 

On 26 Noverjiher NOMURA and KURUSU suggested 

25 to TOGO (exhibit 2249, replacing exbibit 1189) thct 
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they should Induce President Roosevelt to send a 

peace telegram to the Emperor, which he later did, 

snd csked him to consult KIDO. On 28 November TOGO 

rejects the suggestion, saying that he had consulted 

bin. 

The entry v/hich convicts KIDO of entire 

complicity in tbe plot for the surprise attacks of 

December 8 is exhibit 1239, which shows tbst at the 

very time v/^en he was teking part in the ferce of 

delivering the President's long delayed telegram to 

the Emperor, if it wss delivered even then, he knew 

very well of the plans for the surprise attack. 

With regard to the B and C offences ;ve 

submit thst the puilt of KIDO is shown not only by 

his position of adviser to the Emperor on foreign 

effeirs, and by his knowledge of the way in vhich 

Japanese forces carried on warfare es shown at 

Nanking while he was in the cabinet, but by exhibits 

1185 to -7, which shnw thct he v;ss well aware of 

vhat was happening. It is hardly conceivable that 

TOGO and SHIGEMITSU should not have told him of the 

complaints coming in tbroug'1 the Swiss Legrtion, or 

that he should not have known cf Eden's brosdesst in 

• January 194-4, which v/ss bec.rd by Colonel Wild in the 

prison camp at Singapore (especially as he admits 
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knowing of Edon
1
s ornadcest ebout the Hong Kong 

f trocities in 1942). We subr'it it w&s his duty to 

advise the Emperor to insist on hf-vinp these outrages 

investigated and put ripht, and in any ce.se to insist 

on adequate steps beinp taken tn prevent a recurrence 

of what hac? happened eerlier in CYina. 

From start to finish it d^es not rppear 

that he ever drev； the f.ttention of. the Snperor, 

vhose s.dviser he vie s, to the mor&l aspect either of 

the initiation of the Pacific War or of the manner 

in which it WES conducted。 His wl^ole mind ?Tas on 

expediency. 

マe submit thet from at least October 1937 he 

wes e member of this conspirrcy end responsible for 

f.ll that wss done in pursuance of it. 

I an told thpt dn quoting the exhibit which 

sV-ov/s KIDO• s knov'ledge of the etmcitics I ref.d 1185 

to -7. Should be 1985 to -7. 
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ュ.6 , 8 % 

HIROTA 

The particulars with regard to him are to "be 

found on page 323 of tha summary ana the additional 

exhibits which Girectly affect him are 2208-A, B , C, 

2226-8, 2260. 

^hile anibassacor to the U.S.S.R. in 1931, he 

acvocateti a firm policy toi«j?rds the Soviet Union and 

ren.dinoss for immediate war, not to preserve Japan 

from communism but to gat possession of Eastern Siberia 

(exhibits 692-3). On 31 lecoraber 1931 Litvinov 

offoreo Japan a non-aggression pact (through HIROTA 

and YOSHIZAWA) but it was not accepted (axhibit 744). 

He was continually in office, first as Foreign 

Minister in.the SAITO and OKALA cabinets, ？nc then as 

Premier, from 14 September 1933 to 2 February 1937，from 

9 M?RCH 1936 AS PREMIER. 

Luring that period and especially during his 

premiership, although his utterances to other powers 

were often conciliatory enough, his actual policy and 

the ovents for which we submit he is responsible were 

of a different character. 

Pu-Yi was aiopointed Eroperor of Manchukuo 

(exhibits 234, 4-37-A), and the control of Japan over 

that territory consolidated, especially in the direction 

of economic monopoly. (For Example, sea exhibits 965, 
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939, 941, 850, 445, 948.) The Manchurian Affairs 

Board vias established (exhibit 4^1). 

The policy of controlling ano developing 

Japanese and Manchurian industry for war ’.vas initiated 

and carried on. 

The so-called "independonca movements" in 

various parts of North China and Mongolia were insti-

gated and encouraged by Japan. HIROTA activoly 

supported this (exhibit 215)• The object was both 

anti-Chinese snd anti-Soviet. The stiwulntion of tho 

sa.lG of narcotics in China proceeded rapidly. 

Japnn denounced the Yifashingto n Nnval Treaty, 

and put forward at the London Nnval Conference the 

proposal for a common upper limit in pl^ce of the 

5-5-3 ratio, which of course meant that unless Britain 

and America neglected their responsibilitios in other 

parts of the world, Jap-sn would cioininate the Pacific. 

When this was rejected, Japan 7/itharew from the con-

ference ana HIROTA assumed responsibility in 

exhibit 2226, in which he attempted to covor up the 

position with fair words, in spite of which Japan 

steadily and secretly increased her naval armaments. 

After HIROTA succeeded OKADA as Premier, 

following the 26 February rebellion, tho power of the 

military ŵ is incronsed 5 especially by restoring the 
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rule that Uar ano Navy Ministers must be on active 

service (oxhibit 93). 

In tha summer of 1936 a most important 

scries of ministerial conferences were held (exhibits 

978, 977, 216, 704, 217, 979), t?t which national 

policies were laid down covering the whole gist of ths 

conspirncy WE allege. HIROTA WTS personally present 

at throe of them, anc, cf course, responsible for =>11. 

They envisaged ^n aggressive policy in China, East 

Asia, anc. the South Seas, and stops to be taken 

against U.S.S.B., Britain and U.S.A. This w‘。s to be 

achieved by joint efforts of diplomatic skill ana 

"national defense" thus showing plainly that in 

HIKCTA's mind "national aefonsa" did not stop at 

defending Japan or resisting attack, but mennt 

aggression. This wr.s the first time thrt those lDolicios 

were formally ？.ciopted by a government， snd show 

lilROTA as their officinl godfnther, if not their ori-

ginator. Some of thom were secret. In the autumn 

the Anti-Comintern Pact wns negotiated and signed on 

25 November with socrot protocol (oxhibit 36), Its 

raal objects may be bottor gathered from exhibits 482, 

479, 484, and 48?, Privy Council Mooting attendod b7 

HIROTA, thfiri from its text. It vrs pxcompaniod by 

border r。ids on Soviet torritory (exhibits 7 5 3 , 7ク丄ノ• 
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The c-binet fell on 2 February 1937 ^s tho 

result of simultaneous attacks from the S^juk-si 

Party for being too militaristic and bureaucratic 

(exhibit 2208-A) and from the army (exhibits 2208-B 

and C), bacaus2 of those attacks snd bc-cause it still 

contained! sono roprssentrtives of political parties. 

Tho army n.ada prompt use of the now powers HIROTA had 

given thorn to prevent the formation of a UGAKI cabinot. 

On 4 June 1937 HIROTA b^ck qs Foreign 

Minister in first KONOYE c.^binst nno. Frosident of the 

first Plonning .Board, and on 11 Julマ vo.s responsible 

for the decision to t=ke ndvnntage of the TJ--;rco Polo 

Bridge Incident by- launching an inv^.sicr. of China. 

Ho was also responsibla for the "Five-Yenr Plnn11 

(exhibits 341,842 and especially 2227 マnd 239), which 

elnbor-ited the industrial mansuras begun in his former 

period of office. 

The whole course of the Chinaso aggression of 

1937-3 I hava olra?.d.7 dealt with in th3 c-.se of KIDO 

and will not refer to hare. HIROTA was directly 

responsible fron tlio beginning until he left ofi ice 

on 29 May 1938. As Foreign Minister he wr.s parti-

cularly to blnnie for the redaction of nil outside 

efforts to meoiato the conflict (o.g. , exhibits 94.9， 

950)， and protests (e.g., exhibits 988， 955， 957 nnc 
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innumerable others from tiien on), and of the interven-

tions of tho League (exhibits 958, 962, etc.) rand of 

the Brussels Conference (exhibits 954—A to B). The 

only attempt at mediation which ho tolerated was 

German and that マ?is killed by the intransigcant 

attitude of the cabinet on 16 Jnnunry 1933 (exhibits 

486-C，973-A, 266，268，2260). The Gc-rman Foreign 

Offico had no doubt tl'nt tho oft-rspented experience 

of HIROTA, or otnar Japanese Foreign Ministers, spying 

one thing and th-5 army doing another was 3 trick 

(exhibit 486-S). They shoulc know. 

After this J^pnn procseded to set up a 

seriss of puppot ragirnos In tha p^rts of Chinn 

progressiyoly occupied, nnd to establish a commorcisl 

system by which in China, Jnppn csms first, G^rirs^ny 

sccond, and the rest might hp.ve tho leavings, if any. 

(Exhibit 2268 shows HIR0TA fs personal r esponsibility 

for this.) 

We have a sp30ch b.v him c.bout China in the 

Eiot on 22 Jnnuary 1938 (exhibit 972-G). 

On 18 June 1937 Oexhibit 946)， and again on 

12 Fobrunr7 1938 (exhibit 53, recorc p^ges 9230 -?.nd 9236 

he was taking a hand in Japanese nnvil plans. On tha 

latter occasion ne refused s request TDV the- UnitGd 

States, Britain snd France to disclose or give an 
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undertaking about hor building program. 

HIROTA triad to dispel American apprehensions 

about Japanese intentions in the South Seas after the 

occumtion of Hainan nna Sprntley Islands, although 

this  V3s renlly the policy he had himself laid Qown 

as Premier in August 1936. 

From 13 I'iprch to 3 August 1940 HIROTA was 

a cabinet councillor: at this time Jrponese moves 

with regard to French Indo-China nnd the Netherlands 

East Indies were initiated. 

After August 1940, HIHOTA's only activities 

at present known to us are his appoarances at the 

vital ex-premiers ' conf eronces. On 22 July 194-0 

(exhibit 532) nnd 17 July 1941 (exhibit 1117)， he 

advocated a military premier and cabinet, though KONOYE 

was, in fact, appointed with army support. On 

17 October 1941 (exhibit 22ヲ0) ho gave firm support 

to TOJO. On 29 NovGmbor 194-1, when called upon to 

advise the Smperor as to the Pacific W^r, he agreed 

that war was inevitable, but suggested a postponement 

and possible diplomatic solution after its outbreak. 

On 17 and 18 July 194-4 (exhibit 1278) he said the 

prosecution of the war v^s first r.na foremost and 

suggested i member of the Impori^.l family as Premier 

but agreed to TERAUCHI, KOISO or HATA. On 5 久pril 194-5 
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(exhibit 1282) he was still emphatically in fsvor of 

fighting through to win the war, and thought it could 

be oone. He advocnitGd the War or Navy Minister as 

PromiGr. 

In our submission he was aggressor from 

start to finish, ana the contrast bet-veen his public 

and private v/ords and acts shows thnt he was a par-

ticularly'- clovor one. 

ITAGAKI 

The particulars with regard to him nre on 

pago 325 of tho sumrcary. Aaditionnl documents having 

special referonce to hira are exhibits 1973-6, 1998, 

2177-A, 2178-A。:nd B , 2231, 2191 to 2201，2214, 2262， 

2563, 2266 and 2271. Ho is shown to have bean one of 

tho original planners of the Mukden Incident (evidence 

of TANAKA, rscord pages i960 and 15,8^3 5 exhibits 

2191，2193-6) anci rolatod plots (exhibit 2177-A, 

page 22 of thst exhibit), as a membar of tha Kwantung 

Army Staff, on which he remained u n t i l 1 March 1937, 

rising from colonel to major general and chief of 

staff on 23 March 1936. 

He took part in tho appointment of rOHIHARA 

as major of Mukdsn (exhibit 2194)， and in the detachment 

of Manchukuo from China (exhibits 3〇3， 2191, 2195, 

2196). 



He was a founder of Kye~-wa-Kai? a society 

to croo.tG the Manchukuo state to help Jspsn in her 

fight agninst Anglo-Saxon and Comintern aggression 

(exhibit 731-A). 

At the time of the I^arco Polo Incident ho was 

a lieutenant genorol on the General St.?ff, and became 

War Minister under KONOYE on 3 Juno 1938, remaining 

in that office until tha fall of the H I R A N U M cabinet 

on 30 August 1939. I hnva don It sever?.! times with 

the events of those periods, for which \vq submit ho 

wa。 responsible, ana will not repeat. 
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Personal activities of ’ is at the time are 

shown in exhibits 8^6, 857, 271， 589, 612, 491, f04, 

and 7«Tl, all of which are included in the Summary， 

and 2197, 2198, 2199, 2201 and 2214， which are not. 

They prove what could prorerlv be assumed without 

them, his active particiつa+ion in the aggressive 

moves and preparations of his period of office. 

From 7 July 19^1 to 7 April 1945 he was 

commander of the Korean Ariry，and as such respcnsj^le 

for the illegal sending of prisoners of war to Korea 

for exhibition purposes (exl'ibits 1173-5)，for 

enforcement of illegal regulations 坳itb regard to 

them in that area (exhibit 1976)， and for illegal 

sentences upon them (exhibit 1998). 

From 7 April 1945 until the surrender he 

was in command of the 7th Army In Malaya. While he 

held this coiranand at the end of the war serious 

outrages against prisoners of war occurred. Ir 

covered Malaya, Java, Sumatra and Borneo (exhibit 

2282). As an e;-ample} cut of 827 prisoners of war 

at Sandaken camp, Borneo, on 29 May 1945 only five 

survived, the rest having been murdered or died of 

ill treatment or starvation. 

Some other exhibits covering prisoners of 

Tvar offences in the area at this time are: 15:13 A 
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(Record page 12,914),1ヲ14 A, l?l6 A, 1517 A (ITAGAKI»s 

visit to oamT)),1518 A, and Colonel Wild 1 s evidence 

(Record page 5^91). 

vVe submit that there is ample evidence 

against him at all periods. 

KOISO 

The particulars with regard to him are cn 

page 329 of the Summary and the additional documents 

directly referring to him ars exhibits 2202A, 2210-14. 

KOISO was one of the original leaders of 

the Manchurian plot and the related ir-ternal plots 

(exhibits 179F, pages 18 and 20 of exhibit 2177A, 

2178A). 

May I interpose there that I should also 

have adverted to those exhibits in the case of 

DOHIHARA since they implicate him equally in those 

plots. 

He was a ma j o r - gene r a 1 d i r e c t o r of the 

important Military Affairs Bureau (exhibit 2177A, 

not "war service bureau" as stated in the particulars) 

from 21 August 1930 to 29 Februnr：/ 1932， and as 

such responsible for the Military budget, without 

v/hich no reinforcement could have been sent to 

Manchuria (TANAKA, Record page If, 859). He then 

became Vice War Minister until 8 August, then Chief 
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of Staff, Kv^antung Army until 5 March 1934. He was 

decorated in conrection with the Manchurian affair. 

Before the incider.t occurred he attended 

with MINAMI a meeting with the directors of the 

South Manchuria railway to discuss problems in 

Manchuria and Mongolia (exhibit 2202A). He handled 

very substantial s7-ims from Ivianchurian incident 

Setfet Service Funds from time to time (exhibits 

2210-3). 

On 4 June 1932 he received a secret cable 

from the Chief of Staff, Kwartung Army about the 

taking over of customs ir.! Kanchuria to acquire 

revenue (exhibit 227). 

On 3 November 1932 he was corresponding with 

his successor as Vice War Minister about an outline 

for guiding Manchukuo (exhibit 230). 

On ヲ December 1935 to 15 July 1938 he 

commanded the Korean Army. 

From 7 A p r i l - 3 0 August 1939 he was Overseas 

Minister in the HIRANUMA Cabinet, and again from 

16 January to 22‘July 1940 in the YONAI Cabinet. 

On 8 May 1939 he was discussing with ITAGAKI 

the Military Alliance vvith Germany and Italy (exhibit 

2214). 



The particulars with regard to General 

MXHAifll are to be found on page 331 of the Summary, 

and the additional exhibits which directly affect 

hire are: Exhibits No. 186, 3202-A, 22C3-A, 2204-A, 

2205—A, 2206-A, 2207, 1973, 1974, 1975 and 2251. 

•Vhile General MINAMI was Minister of ^Var 

(14 April 1931 to 13 December 1931) there are several 

occasions which indicate his participation in the 

aggression against China, not only in the "Incident" 

of 18 September 1931, but in the further aggression 

in taking over North Chins in 1935-1936. Previous 

to the kanchurian Incident of 18 beptember 1931 

is noted the conference of 30 June 1931 for the dis-

cussions of the Manchurian-Mongolian problems (Ex-

hibit 2202-A)。 Shortly following this, on the 4-th 

of August 1931, occurred .his speech to the Army 

Conuxianders and the Commanding Generals of Divisions, 

which indicated his attitude toward Manchuria 

(Exhibit 186) (Page 1,Exhibit 2207). 

Then followed the Manchurisn Incident of 

18 September 1931。 His attitude concerning that 

Incident is shown by Exhibit 2204-A„ 

He approved General HONJO's aggressive 

action in Manchuria (Exhibit 2207. page 2). 

His attitude tov/ard the extension of the 
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Incident into occupation nf all Lanchuria is shown 

by the Privy Council meeting of 9 December 1931 

(Ejchibit 2205-A) . Marquis KIDO's Diary shows that on 

28 January 1932 General fcllftAMI delivered a lecture 

before the Emperor on the situation in Manchuria, 

w h k h shows his aggressive plans toward Lianchuria 

(Exhibit 2251, Kecord pages 16213 - 1 6 2 1 4 ) . 

While Coamander in Chief of the Kwantung 

Army and concurrently Ambassador to Manchukuo —10 

December 1934 to 6 March 1936 - he conspired to 

further aggression against China ? which resulted in 

the acquiring cf the four provinces of i-iorth China. 

This is indicated by the excerpts from the records 

of the Japsnese Foreign Ministry (Exhibit 2206-A), 

？nd ho admitted that his troops went beyond the 

"Great Wall" (Page 3 of Exhibit 2207). He further 

admitted that "his advice" to the Government of 

Manchukuo was, in substance, "s direction" (same 

reference). 

He was a member and President of the 

Greater Japan Political Association, one of the 

principal aims of which wa.s the extension of the 

Greater East Asia Co-Prosperity Sphere, v.'hich 

included エndis? Burma, the Dutch Last Indies end 

the Philippines, and ho believed in Asis for the 
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Asiatics (page 2 of Exhibit 2207)。 

While Governor-Genersl of Korea he 

approved the sending of Prisoners of War to Korep for 

illegal purposes, as is shown by the correspondence 

between GeneralエTAGAKI and the War Ministry (Ex-

hibits 1973，1974 end 1975). 

It is believed thrt General MlNAifil was one 

of those at the bottom of the conspiracy for ag-

gression against China, and that he was an impor-

tant figure in future plans for aggression. 

On 24 June 1940 ht,- and t-IUTO were discussing 

with the German れmbasspdor such metters ss military 

aggression in Indo-China, mutual support of Germany 

pnd Japan against America, end a Japan-Russia non-

aggression pact to free Japan economically from 

America (Exhibit 523)， end advocating these courses. 

From 29 Mey 1942 to 22 July 1944 he was 

goveraor-generpl of. Korea, snd from then to 7 April 

1945 he was Premier. 

During the latter period he made a speech 

which is Exhibit 277. 

As Premier he bears a very hesvy respon-

sibility with regard to outrages against prisoners 

of wsr and others. 
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By the time he took office the whole matter 

hed become notorious. Eden's first brondepst h&d 

taken place two years before ？nd his second six months 

before. 

As Premier he obtained the right to attend 

Imperial General Headquarters (Exhibit 1282). 

The following ere a few of the Exhibits 

having particuler reference to offences agrinst 

prisoners of wc.r during his term of office; 2012-4, 

2016A, 2022, 2025A, 2110-2, record pege 15, 221, 

2092, record page 1 5 , 1 5 4 , 15148-50。 

If he didn't know of ell these things, v/e 

say it wes his duty to enquire into them and prevent 

them. 

fte submit thrt we have msde out pn ample 

esse against him on ?11 Counts. 

THE PRESIDEIVI: I think we might recess 

now. We will recess for fifteen minutes. 

(Whereupon, rt 1445 hours s recess 

was tp.ken until 1500 hours, after which the 

proceedings were resumed as follows:) 
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MARSHAL OF THE COURT: The Internr.tionsl 

Militcry Tribunal for the Fsr East is now resumed. 

THE PRESIDENT: M r . Comyns Carr. 

腿 . C O M Y N S CARR: Your Honor, in regard to 

MI'NAMI, the last one I dealt with, I am told there is 

some doubt GS to whether the statement on psge 331 of 

the summary th?t he wcs a Cabinet Councillor is 

correct. He wss appointed by the Cabinet to be a 

ccruncillo10 but it may be it was soon other council then 

the Crbinet, 

MUTO. The particular with respect to MUTO， 

Akira, are to be found in the Summary, Appendix B , 

page 332. Additional documents in relet ion to him sre--

exhibits 2239 to 2247. 

It is readily apparent th&t .the answers of 

MUTO in his interrogation...(.exhibit 2239) and other 

documentary r.nd oral evidence support each count of 

the Indictment in its allegations against MUTO. The 

evidence, likewise, substantiates the accuracy of the 

ststement of MUTO's individual responsibility ss set 

out in the Indictment, Appendix E, p^ge iv. 

The accused MUTO is shown by the evidence to 

hevc participr.tcd in Jarjan's over-all aggression in at 

least two cspacities or lines of a c t i v i t y : ( 1 ) A s 

•an Army officer in the field. (2) As sn Army officer 
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in the WaT Ministry Gt Tokyo. 

The evidence is sufficient to show thc.t the 

accused hos a responsibility for the Manchuria, and 

still more the China Affairs. He is shown to h; ve 

been one of the so-called younger Array officers, a 

Mf.;jor on the Army Genorsl Staff (record 2006) at the 

time of the incident of 18 September 1931. He wes a 

Colonel and Staff Officer of the Kwr.ntung Army in 

1936 to 1937 (record 16,118). He was Adjutant of the 

Generr.l Stpff, NorthChina Army, in 1938 to '39 (record 

1d,118) . His services p.geinst China ？.re indicated by 

the evidence (exhibit No. 1272) thct he was decorated 

in 1934 for his services in the 1931 to 1934 "war" and 

in 1940 for his services in the China "Affair." 

The Military Affairs Burccu is shovm to heve 

been headed by the accused c.s Director or Chief from 

October 1939 to April 194-2 (record 16,118) throughout 

the period of prcper^tion end initiation of the 

aggressive cttacks by Japanese r.rmed forces against 

the United States, Grert. Britain, Netherlands Ecst 

Indies and French Indo-China. The accused first served 

in this Burccu, as c Section Chief in 1935 to '36 

(record 16,118). On 12 October 1939 MITTO wrs rp^ointed 

(Summary, pages 103-298; exhibits 102 end 118) Chief 

of the Bureau, Sccretcry of the Nfti rnnl Generel 
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Mobilization Council rnd c member of other "bodies, 

including Planning Bocrd, Manchurian Affairs Borrd 

m d Crbinしt Information Board. Tho accuscd in theso 

official positions is shown to hfve cxcrciscd directing 

or possiby controlling influcncc over domestic p.nd 

international policies r.nd politics, over prop&grnda 

r.nd press control (rccord 15,870-1),and over rnilitrry 

and nevel cction. For instrnco, in June 1940 he wrs 

with KOISO in a discussion with the Gcrmcn /mbesspdor 

of various eggressive schemes (exhibit 523). 

The -'accused pr.rticipEted regularly in lirison 

confcrenccs c.nd conferences before the Throne in 194-1. 

On 13 January 1941 he ettended a liaison confcrence 

with TOJO and OKA. MITTO attended a liaison confcrence, 

with TOJO and others, on 30 Jrnunry 1941 (record 11,057), 

on 3，13 end 20 February (record 11,057), on 2, 6-7 

end 11 M〔.rch， on 10 /、pril， on 3, 8 , 1 2，1 5 , 22 end 29 

Ivlry, end on 6，16-17, 23, 2ヲ，26, 27 end 28 June (page 

332, Appendix B of the Summnry). At the confcrcncc 

on 25 June it was decided to mrkc aggressive r.dvcnces 

to the south, first by diplomr.cy if possible, thrn if 

ncccsscry by arms (rccord 11，753). Ml丁TO attended the 

Privy Council Meeting on 28 July 194-1 (record 7,069)， 

and Imperial Confcrenccs on 6 September (rccord 8,814), 

25 5 November (record 10,333), rnd 1 Dcccmbcr (record 



l！10,519). ' MUTO attende-d also the Inquiry Committee 

2 I meeting of the Privy Council ct 7:30 c.m. on 8 December, 

こt which tho belrted declaration of wcr egainst the 

A | United States end England was discussed. 

5 : The last evidence of TANAKA about him is so 

c fresh in the mind of the Tribune.1 thfit I will not 

7 i quote it, 
-

s ； MUTO was recommondcd to Ribbentrop for the 

9 | dccorction of the Greot Crors by Germany "because of 

io j his contribution to German-Jspcnese coor^ercitiori 

u (record 11,352, exhibit 1272). 

12 I quote from the Military Attache 1s words --

13 the German Military Attache's words: "Without regard 

14 to the vacillrtions of Japanese policy, he always 

15 advocated the conlusion of a Gc-rmnn-Japanese alliance 

1(5 in D most importrnt position," r.nd from the Ambassador' s 

1 7 comments: "MUTO, ？.s head of the political section of 

1 8 the Yrar Ministry hss often been mentioned in my reports. 

1 9 In view of the political influence wielded by the 

20 Jspcnese army, his attitude wes end is of great 1 

2i丨 importr:nc€ 

2 2 丨 According to TANAKA's evidence which is 

23 corroborr.ted by the witness SUZUKI and the numerous 

24 documents passing betv;een tue Foreign Ministry snd the 

25 Far Ministry ebout prisoners of wrr it is cler.r thrt 

‘（夂 ‘ 一 _ 



his bureau hcd a grert responsibility with re^erd to 

them, c.It hough in his case for a rather short time. 

Ps one of those entitled to attend Imperial General 

Hesdquerters he must, we submit, hrve been awere of 

the entries in the War Diary about the outreges at 

Singapore in Fc-brucry snd Mrrch 1942 (exhibit 476), 

before he proceeded on 20 April to commcnd the 2nd 

Imperisl Guards Division in Sumstra which wr.s in the 

same army src-c, of which the Commander in Chief was 

General YAMASHITA. He wrs there until Octobcr 1944 

during which period there is much evidence of 

atrocities in the command, snd then joined the seme 

General in the Philippines as Chief of St£ff until 

the surrender. It is during this period thst some 

of the worst rtrocities were committed there. 

The evidence now in the record is such thst 

the motion to dismiss the Indictmcnt with respect to 

the accused MUTO should, it is submittc-d, be over-

ruled . 

KIMURA. The particulars with regcrd to him 

arc on pege 328 of the Summary. 

He was de-corrted for his services in both 

the Mcnchuric end China "incidents", but £part from 

the fact (exhibit 2282) that the 32nd Division which 

he commcndcd v/ps serving in C hinr., r.nd thrt he w&s 
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Chief of Staff of the- Kwcntung /rmy, October 1939 to 

October 1940, and member of a numb-r of Japonese 

Manchurian joint committees, we have, no knowledge of 

v;hnt he did. 

On 10 April 1941 he become Vice Wsr Minister. 

You heve heard evidence to the effect that there were 

limitations upon the importance of this officc. Never-

theless it placed him in v. position not only to know 

but to take an active pert in, end to sssume responsi-

bility for the events of his period of office. It may 

be judged best from exhibit 1272, which shows the 

reasons why he was recommended for the Germen decoration 

of the Grcrt Cross in May 194-2. The Germr.n Military 

Attache says: "He WES in Germp.ny 1922-4. In his 

position of Chief of Stoff of the Kwantung Army October 

1939 to October 1940 (which is omitted from his 

personnel record, but is mentioned in exhibit 102 

though without s date) he hrs especially worked on 

behe.lf of Germany. Vice Minister of ,,Trr since 10 

^pril 1941, he is one of the principal advocstcs of 

Gorman-Jspenesc- military cooperation." The Ambesssdor 

adds his own comment: "KI.W^A has closely cooperated 

with Minister of ”'er end Prime Minister TOJO already 

on the Kwantung Army. His personal r c：If. t ions hip to 

TOJO r,s well as his (i.e. TOJO's), primary 
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preoccupstion in his position of Prime Minister h?.ve 

enhanced his (i.9. KIMURA's) influence in the leader-

ship of the Wsr Ministry, as well as his position in 

regard to the other Vice-Ministers to c merked degree." 

We submit thst these rencrks are obvious common sense, 

and that hcving regard to t^c predomincnt position of 

the army ct this period even the Vice-Minister has a 

greater shr.re of responsibility then the Minister of 

some other departments. At all events thct he hes 

enough. During his period of office he WP.S also a 

Councillor of numerous other official bodies, includ-

ing the Planning Board rnd the Totrl War Rcasecrch 

Institute. The activities of the latter r.t this tine 

〔•re shovm in exhibits 870A crd 871 from August to 

October 194-1} which shows clerrly thr.t the lack of 

clarity in Japan's communications to the United States 

wr-s intention£l, "bec&use the object of them was not 

poace but delay while wr:r r>r( psrations were completed. 

Exhibits 686A, 688A ANA 1336 also comc from this body, 

and the two letter sketch the "Co-ProsT?crity Sphere," 

and plcns to rnncx the Soviet Hcritirae Provinces. '""hGn 

we come to the questions of prisoners of war offenses 

we have much more direct evidence of KII'ILIRA' s activites. 

It was he who communicGtra to the Foreign Minister of 

Janucry 2 3 , 1 9 4 2 , the undertaking which wss transmitted 
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to the Allied Governments to observe the Gonevr： 

Convention mutatis mutandis end to give due consider-

ation in regard to food end clothing to the rucirl 

hsbits and customs of interned prisoners (exhibit 1958). 

Yet he retained his office until lierch 194-3 while this 

undertaking was daily and flngrcntly disregarded. He 

had access to all the informrtion and attended 

Impcrir.l General Hendqusrtcrs end the meetings of 

bureau chiefs where thesぃ nrtters were discussed snd 

decided. He must shsre responsibility for the decision 

of April or May 1942 to racke prisoners of war work 

regardless of rrnk ^nd to send them for exhibition 

to places in Jripsn, Korea (record 14,288), for TOJO1 s 

speeches stout "no work no food" (exhibits i960 and 

1962), for the fpiiurc to answer end the untruthful 

answers sent to allied protests which he had to 

approve (record page 14,287). As a member of Impcrirl 

General Headquarters he nust we submit have hrd access 

to the V7ar Dicry end seen the account of outreges iDrst 

end intended in Mr.lays quoted in exhibit 476. 

Above all he must hsve been a party to the 

illegr.l decision to use prisoner of wer Icbor on the 

rushed construction of the Purna-Siam rsilv^ry, with 

its inevitable tragic conscquonccs. 

He olso shares the responsibility for 
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exhibits 1964- to 1976. H':. personally issued the 

order for the de<-th penalty on ccptured airmen, 

exhibit 1992. He was responsible for the prisoner 

of wcr punishment lew, exhibit 1998. He personally-

ordered the illegc.l employment of 1500 prisoners of 

wer on munition work in Manchuria in August 194-2 

(exhibit 1970). 

From 30 August 194-4- to the surrender he wes 

commander of the srmy in Burma. The outrages which 

took place there during thrt period sre described 

in exhibits 1573A, 1552A, 1553A, 1555A, 1558a. 

For these we submit he is dircctly responsible, rnd 

thst the notion by him should be dismissed. 
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O K a W A . Particulars are on page 334 of the 

Summary. Additional documents are Exhibits 2177-A-2184, 

2231. 

The main case against him is thct he wr.s one 

of the originators of the pernicious ideas which gave 

birth to the conspiracy and took e.lead, by speech and 

writing in popularizing them. 

Exhibits 2179-A ana 2180-A show that as early 

as 1925 and 1926 he was preaching a war between Er.st 

and West, denouncing the League of Nations c no. the 

Anglo-Saxon races, and calling upon Jupr.n to crouse 

Asia against them. 

Later in Exhibit 2181-A, published in 1939， 

he explains that the foundation of Manchukuo was 

merely the beginning of the Greater East Asia plan, 

and roused a great nationalistic spirit in Japan, and 

welcomes the victories following the Marco Polo Inci-

dent. In spite of the assistance of England, Frc.nce 

and. the USSR to China, Japan must use irresistible 
J 

force over a long period to establish the New Order. 

In Exhibits 2182-A, published in 1943, he 

lauds the ideas of s former writer who foresaw Japan 

"ruling over the foundytion of the world," advocating 

that she should absorb China first, then Si?‘m and 

India, the whole area of the South Seas, the Phillippines, 
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opposing Britain, end obtaining the control of the 

Islsnds in the Indian Ocean end French Indo-China. 

He refers to a number of former writers who had preached 

similcr ideas. He then describes at length and with 

enthusiasm the devolopmont of the Manchuricn and 

Chinese aggression^, end traces it as the precursor 

of the Pacific War, mointaining that the most important 

thing for Japan is to complete the subjugation of 

China. 

In Exhibit 2183-A he approves of the same 

writer' s viev; that the maritime provinces of Siberia 

must be occupied against Iiussia and the South Sea 

Islands against England, 

In the evidence rhich he gave at his trial in 

September 1934 for his port in the various plots of 

1931 to '32 he boldly justifies his actions and gives 

a description of the parts played by himself, the 

accused HASHIMOTO, ITAGAKI, DOHIHARA, KOISO and others 

in those plots and in the Manchurian affair with which 

he says they were linked, and of the propaganda he 

had carried on ft public meetings as well ES by writin 

in their support. He also explains in detail the idea 

similar to those above-mentioned, which they were advo 

eating (Exhibits 2X77-A, 2178-A). He also put in a 

document (Exhibit 2178-B) describing his work as I ； 
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Director of the East Asia Keserrch Institute of the 

South Manchuria Railway, a post he appears to have 

occupied throughout the period of the Indictment, ex-

cept v:hen in prison es a result of this trial, carrying 

on en elaborate propaganda to stir up the Japanese 

people to take action in Manchuria, in cooperation 

with the chiefs of the Kwrntung Army. 

He WEs thus both a thinker 7 a propogardj st and 

an active plotter. 

We submit thr.t he was one of these responsible 

for this conspiracy and all its results. 

THE PRESIDENT: Before you leave OKAV/A1 s case, 

Mr, Carr, we note the action takdn by the Nuernberg 

Tribunal in respect of the accused before them, Gustnve 

Krupp und Von Bohlen snd Hess. We may Imve to take 

similar action in respect of O K A W A . That is a matter 

for consideration lr.ter. 

MR. COMYNS CARH: OSHILIA. The particulars 

with regard to OSHIMA, Hiroshi are to be found on page 

335 of the Chronological Summary, and the additional 

exhibits which directly cffect him are: Exhibit No. 

2106 (Record page 15186); 2230 (Record page 15990)； 

2232 (Record page 16003). 

From 1st August 1931 to 5 March 1934 he was 

a member of the Array and Navy General Str.ffs and wss 
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decorated for his services in the "Incident." 

The requirement thr.t Japan secure the politi-

cal strength and bargaining power which a military 

alliance with Germany would f.fford, and the reasons 

therefor, have been fully discussed. The first step 

in the accomplishment of this desired end was taken 

in the Spring of 1935 by the accused OSKIKiA who was 

then Japanese Military Atti'che to Germsny. The original 

negotiations were not initiated through diplomatic 

channels but were conducted by the Kilitcry Attache, 

It was not until the Spring of 1936 that the negotis-

tions were conducted through regular diplomatic chan-

nels. The accused OSHIivIA. assisted in these negotia-

tions. (Exhibit No. 477, Record page 5913). This 

resulted in the conclusion of the Japanese-German 

Anti-Comintern Pact on 25 September 1936, the purpose 

and importance of which have been explained. He WGS 

again decorated, for this. 

Close collaboration was maintained between 

the Japanese and Germans under the provisions of the 

protocol of the Anti-Conintern Pact v;hich took the 

form of espionage end subversive activities against 

the Soviet Union. It was shovm in a report of 

Heichsfuehrer, H. Himmler, on 31 January 1939, that 

the accused OSHIMA had succeeded in sending ten Russians 
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with bombs across tho Caucasian frontier in an unsuc-

cessful attempt to kill Generalissimo Stalin, and thr.t 

OSHIMA had purchased o tract of real estate in F&l-

kcnsee in the name of a middle man, where Russians 

were employed in writing propaganda pamphlets which 

were conveyed from Poland into Russia by means of 

small balloons. (Exhibit No. 489， Record page 6026)• 

Germany at first opposed military aggression 

by Japan in China under the guise of fighting commu-

nism in third states, but upon Jape.n giving evidence 

in January 193S of a determination to wage a major 

war with China, Germany reoriented her policy and 

Japan thus gained the support of Germany in her 

plans against China as well as against Hussia. 

At this time, 4 February 1938， Chancellor 

Hitler assumed supreme command cf the armed forces in 
i 

Germany, In line with the expressed desire to strengthen 

the Anti-Comintern Pact, Ribbentrop and OSIilMA, still 

Military Attache to Germany ? discussed the advisability 

of closer collaboration between Germany and Japan 

which resulted in a proposal for a mutual aid treat)' 

aimed at the entire world. (Exhibit No. 4-97, Record 

page 6 0 5 D . OSHIMA, elevated to the rank of Ambassa-

dor Plenipotentiary to Germany on 8 October 1938, con-

ducted the negotiations fcr a Japanese-German military 
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alliance. Italy temporarily refused to unite in such 

an elliance. OSHIMA, after obtaining the approval of 

the Foreign Office of the Japanese Government, went 

to Itr.ly in December 1938 for the purpose of inducing 

Mussolini tc unite in such en alliance. (Exhibit No. 

487, Record page 6061). 

^s a result of the division within the Japanese 

Gobinet ss to the extent to which Japan should commit 

herself in the proposed alliance, OSHIMA WES advised 

in December 1938 thst the ITO Ccrnraission would be sent 

to Eurcpe tc make known the Government's exact posi-

tion. (Exhibit No. 487, Record page 6062). 

OSHIMA and SHIIUTORエ cc.nferred on matters 

perco.ining to the proposed alliance end, ccntrery to 

the views of the J a p m e s e Cabinet, they advocated an 

all-out military alliance aimed at the world. They 

endeavored, to impose their convictions upon tho 

Japanese Government end exercised the utmost pressure 

in their endeavor to influence arid direct Japanese 

policy in this regard. 

The エTO Commission on its arrivnl in Berlin 

instructed OSHIMA that he must work within the views 

of the Government (Exhibit No. 487, Record pages 6072 

to 79), but O S H B k , desiring a military treaty v/ithout 

reservations on the part of Japan, refused to follow 
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the advice of the ITO Commission and refused to communi-

cate through official channels a Japanese compronise 

proposal. Acting with then Ambassador to 

R O N E , O S H I M A threatened to bring about a fall of the 

Japanese Cabinet by resigning from his post unless 

the Government reconsidered its stand. (Exhibit No. 

499, Record page 6096). 

In April 1939 the Japsnese Government recon-

sidered its stand and presented a new draft of the pro-

posGd treaty in connection with which it requested 

an egreement thet in the publication of the Pact an 

explanation be made which would tend to soften the 

attitude which would likely result on the part of 

England, France end America. The reoscn assigned by 

the Tokyo Cabinet for the necessity for such a limited 

interpretation of the Pact was that both for political 

and economic reasons Japan "was at the moment not yet 

in E position to come forward openly ES the opposer of 

the three democracies." 

OSHIMi” for the second time transcending the 

role of a ministerial officer, refused to officially 

communicate the Japanese Government
1
s proposal to the 

nation tc which he wes accredited. (Exhibit Nc. 502, 

Record page 6100). By this action he endoavorecl to 

ilfpros'is upon the. Jrp^ncse tistloft t'hそ"polie^ w M ^ h he 
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impress upon the Japanese nation the policy which he 

end the accused advocsted and v^iich wns necessary to 

assure Japan the political and militcry support for 

their aggressive action in Ec?st ^sia. 

Ribbentrop informed Ambassador OSHIMA that a 

German-Italian pr.ct would be signed during the month 

cf May, and the.t it wcs desirable that the Japanese 

Government reach its final decision quickly, so that 

it would be possible to formulate secretly the Tri-

Partite Pact simultaneously v:ith the signing of the 

German—Italian Pact (Exhibit No. 486， Record page 6115) 

Such a pcct wcs concluded on 22 May 1939 (Record page 

13 : 6120). In the last days before its conclusion the 

1 4 

1 5 

16 

1 7 

18 

Japanese Cabinet made strenuous efforts to ccme to s 

f i n d decision. In a strictly confidential and unof-

ficial conversation, embassador OSHIMA advised von Rib-

bentrop that he had received c. telegram from Fereign 

Minister A K I T A , according to which the Japanese 

1 9
 . Gcvernment wished to reserve entrance into a state of 

っ0 

wer in case of a European conflict. For the third 

time OSHIMA endeavcrec. tc influence the policy of his 

government in line v:ith his view and thnt of his asso-

ciates by refusing to pass this natter on to the German 

Gcvernment. He advised AlilTA of this by telegram, 

whereupon War Minister IThGhKI intervened snd requested 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 
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OSHIIvui to hold up further action v/ith regard to 

Foreign Minister AhlTi. in order not to disturb the 

discussions among the various factions in Tokyo, 

promising that the Army wc：s "firmly resolved to fight 

the natter out quickly and even at the risk of a 

Cabinet overthrow." (Exhibit No. 2230, Record page 

15990). 
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As early as April 1939 Ribbentrop advised 

Ambassador OSHIMA that if negotiations for the Tri-

partite Alliance were delayed too long it might become 

necessary for Germany to consider a non-aggression 

pact with Russia. (Exhibit 487, Record, page 6080). 

Such a pact was concluded between Germany and the 

Soviet Union on 23 August 1939 (Record, page 6122). 

Ambassador OSHIHA was directed to file a protest to 

Germany's action in concluding the pact, but in order 

to preserve his own policy and that of most of the 

accused with regard to Japanese-German relations and 

collaboration for which he had so energetically worked, 

he disobeyed his government's instructions fcr the 

fourth time by postponing delivery of the Japanese 

memorandum of protest u n t i l 1 8 September 1939, when 

the matter was handled in a surreptitious and un-

official manner. (Exhibit No. 506, Record, page 6124). 

The expediency of quickly concluding a German-

Russian non-aggression pact on 23 August 1939 became 

apparent upon the dramatic German invasion of Poland 

on 1 September 1939. Notwithstanding the temporary 

set-back to the conclusion of a Japanese-German-

Italian alliance, OSHIMA continued in his efforts to 

develop closer German-Japanese relations. In September 

1939 he agreed with Ribbentrop that Japan's fate was 

w
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linked with Germany's fate and that if Germany could 

succeed in mediating for a settlement between Japan 

and Russia, the result would be that Japan would 

be free to extend her power in East Asia toward the 

South in which direction her vital interests lie. 

Ribbentrop considered it would be of great import-

ance for the policy of collaboration that General 

OSHITIA remain as Ambassador to Germany, in which 

capacity he had enjoj^ed the complete confidence of 

Hitler and the German Army. (Exhibit No. 507, Record, 

page 6127). 

When General 0SKI?,!A resigned as Ambassador, 

Ribbentrop advised the German Ambassador to Japan that 

General OSHIMA on his return would work further for 

German-Japanese friendship and. requested that OSKIMA 

be allowed to transmit in code telegrams to the Reich 

Foreign Minister personally and to forward letters 

addressed to the Reich Foreign Minister unopened. 

(Exhibit No.ヲ08, Record, page 6131). 

OSHIMA, timing his action with the initiation 

of war by Hitler against Poland, advised the Japanese 

Government to proceed with military aggression in the 

Southern areas of Greater East Asia and against Hong 

Kong, for which the Japanese Navy, in his opinion, was 

prepared. (Exhibit No.シ '09, Record, page 6136). 
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After OSHIMA 1s return to Japan, the German 

Ambassador reported on 23 February 1940 that OSHIMA 

and others remained "in an unchanged friendly attitude 

and ready for every support." (Exhibit Fo. 511, 

Record, page 6141). 

The downfall of the YONAI Cabinet and its 

replacement by a stronger pro-alliance and pro-German 

Cabinet has been discussed elsewhere. The new Cabinet 

concluded the Tri-Partite Pact of 27 September 1940, 

the final milestone in the carrying out of that part 

of the conspiracy directed toward German and Italian 

assistance in the accomplishment of Japan's so-called 

divine mission. Upon the conclusion of the Pact, 

Foreign Minister MATSUOKA offered OSHIMA the appoint-

ment of Ambassador to Germany. General OSHIMA at 

first declined reappointment to this position on the 

ground that it would interfere with the continuance 

of his politically active work in Japan for the Tri-

Partite Pact. However, upon the exertion of pressure 

by the Foreign Minister and upon insistence by the 

Army, supported also by important Navy circles, General 

OSHIMA accepted reappointment. (Exhibit No. 560, 

Record.，page 6422). 

Foreign Minister MATSUOKA, at a farewell 

party for OSHIMA on 15 January 1941, stated that, "The 
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efforts exerted by our country for establishing the 

New Order in East Asia which began with the Manchurian 

Incident, and the efforts exerted by Germany and Italy 

to break down the Versailles system both have a funda-

mental common cause which, in turn, will contribute 

to the establishment of the New Order of the World." 

With .German-Japanese relations destined to become 

closer, he said that OSFIKA.'s ability would be relied 

upon in an extensive way. (Exhibit No. 473-C, Record, 

page 6423). 

OSHIMA, in a conference with the State 

Secretary of German Foreign Ministry on 22 February 

1941, stated with regard to British possessions in 

East Asia that Singapore must be seized in grand 

style from the sea and from the land, although he 

considered it necessary to take Honjr Kong first. 

(Exhibit No. 570, Record, page 64^7). On the following 

day, in a conference with Ribbentrop, OSHIMA asserted 

that preparations for the occupation of Singapore tvould 

be completed by the end o^ Kay; that prudence required 

preparations for war against both England and America; 

that the moment for the occupation of Singapore must be 

coordinated with operations in Europe and that the 

occupation of Hong Kong and the Philippines had been 

provided for in case of need. (Exhibit No. 571, Record, 



16,893-

2 

4 

6 

7 

8 

9 I 

10 I 
ii！ 

1 2 ！ 

1 3 

1 4 

1 5 

16 

1 7 

IS 

1 9 

20 

21 

22 

2 3 

2 4 

25 

page 64^9). OSHIMA promised Ribbentrop that, he would 

procure maps of Singapore in order that Hitler, con-

sidered as the greatest expert on military questions 

at that time, could advise Japan on the best method of 

attack against Singapore. (Exhibit No. 580， Record, 

page 6529). 

OSHIMA was a member of the General Commission 

established under the provisions of the Tri-Partite 

Pact. (Exhibit No. 121， Record page 768). 

On 22 June 194-1 Germany invaded Russia. 

Hitler had informed OSHIMA of his intention as early 

as 6 June (Exhibit No. 1084). Shortly thereafter, 

OSHIMA agreed with Ribbentrop that he would influence 

the Japanese Government in the direction of speedy 

military action against the Soviet Union.. (Exhibit 

No. 587, Record, page 6562). 

Between the first and third of December 194-1 

Ambassador OSHIMA began the definite negotiations for 

a "no separate peace pact" between Japan, Germany 

and Italy, which was concluded on 11 December 1941. 

The question had been raised by the General Staff as 

early as 18 November and an assurance given by Ribben-

trop on 21 November (Exhibit No. 601). 

On 14 December 1941, Chancellor Hitler gave 

a reception in honor of Ambassador OSKIMA at which 
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OSHIMA was awarded the Grand Cross of the Order of 

Merit of the German Eagle in Gold. At this reception 

Hitler acknowledged OSHIMA's services in the achieve-

ment of German-Japanese cooperation which had culminated 

in a close brotherhood in arms. In the discussion 

that followed, Ambassador OSHIMA explained the progress 

of the war in the Pacific and stated that after the 

capture of Singapore Japan must turn toward India and 

that it was important for Gorman；'- to synchronise its 

attack against India from the west as Japan attacked 

；from the east. (Exhibit No. 609, Record, page 6670). 

In March 194-3, OSHIMA attended a conference 

with Ribbentrop in which Ritbentrop suggested that 

Japan institute similar warfare as Germany had been 

doing and in which Ribbentrop .discussed with OSHIMA 

七he German U-boat order of September 1942 in regard to 

failing to rescue survivors of torpedoed merchant 

vessels. OSHIMA conveyod to the Japanese submarine 

authorities information regarding the German operating 

policy, namely, complete destruction of personnel as 

well as the ship. (Exhibit No. 2106, Record, pages 

15,187, 15,1 89). While OSHIMA is particularly concerned 

with the conspiracy alleged in Count 5 of the Indictment, 

we submit that the evidence show? that he was linked 

with the more general conspiracy from the beginning, 
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or at least from an early date, and responsibility 

for all the acts alleged in the counts in wbich he 

is charged. 

SHIGEMITSU 

The particulars with regard to SHIGEMITSU, 

Mamoru, are to bo found on page 337 of the chrono-

logical summary, and the additional exhibits which 

directly affect him are: Exhibits Nos. 123, 2279, 

2017, 2018, 2019, 2020, 2021, 2022, 2023, 2024, 2025-A, 

2026, 983, 1017 (Rccord, page 9683),1018 (Record, 

page 9688), 1023, (Record., page 9712), 2016 — A, 1275 

(Record, page 11,364), 773-A (Record, page 8o6l),973 

(Record, page 7876), 829-A (Record, page 8007), 662 

(Record, page 7169), 664 (Record, page 7183)， 1274. 

This able diplom:.t, after service in the 

Foreign Ministry and China, was appointed in 1935 

as Councillor of the Board of Manchurian Affairs, 

having previously been decorated for his services in 

China, 1931-1934-; in 1936 was appointed Ambassador to 

the USSR: in September,1938 was appointed Ambassador 

to Great Britain; in 1941 (February) he became Ambassador 

to the Republic of China, and finally, on the 20th of 

April 1943, Minister of Foreign Affairs, which position 

he held until 7 April 1945 (Exhibit 123). 

While still Ambassador to the USSR (2 January 
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1938) he was rewarded for services in concluding 

the Anti-Comintern Pact (Exhibit 983). 

In May 1940， while Ambassador to Great Britain, 

he cabled ARITA (Foreign Minister) to apply National 

Policy to the South Seas Areas (This after the German 

conquest of Belgium and Holland) (Exhibit 1017). On 

5 August 1940 he cabled MATSUOKA (Foreign Minister) 

to dispose of Prance and the Netherlands in East Asia 

first to profit Japan most (Exhibit 1023). 

In September 1941 he talked with KIDO about 

United States negotiations (Exhibit 2279). 

While Foreign Minister he consistently denied 

requests of protecting powers to visit POW camps, which 

wr.s in violation of treaties and assurances (Exhibits 

Nos. 2016-A, 2017, 2018, 2019). 

HG refused to permit the protecting power 

to ask certain questions of POW in the few visits 

permitted to POW camps (Exhibits Hos. 2020, 2021). 

He 权as at Privy Council meeting which 

supported the annexation 切,Thailand of Shan States from 

Burma (violation of treaties) (Exhibit No. 1275) and 

heard without protest TOJO's cynical remarks about 

international law, a matt r peculiarly within his 

province. 

In September 1943 he made a speech glorifying 



the Tri-Parti-te Pact (Exhibit'No. 773-幻；and in 

December, 194-3 , he made another speech accusing the 

United States and England of being forces of aggres-

sion (Exhibit No. 973). 

He was notified by •'"he Swiss (protecting 

power) of the ill-trcatmant of POW continuously --

194-3-1945 (Exhibit No. 2022). 

He was notified particularly of mistreatment 

of P0¥i- in Thailand and denied same, although report of 

bad conditions had been made to the Japanese Government 

(Exhibits Nos. 473, 2023, 1939). 

HG received protests through the Swiss of 

the mistreatment of United States interned civilians, 

but made false reports concerning their treatment 

(Exhibit No. 2024). 

He received protests through the Swiss as 

to the use of United States POW for labor in connection 

with operations of war, but made false answers thereto 

(1943-1945) (Exhibit No. 2025-A). 

He received protests through the Swiss and 

International Red Cross as to the lack of food for 

POW and refused to make a change (Exhibit No. 2026). 

On 21 January 1945 he made a speech in the 

Diet saying, " . . . sacred mission to keep fighting 

for common war aims of intornational justice in war of 



self-existence and self-defense" (Exhibit No. 829-A). 

On 3 March 1945 he received a telegram from 

Saigon about the camp in French Indo-China (Exhibit 

No. 662) and. made no oboection to Jap?.n taking over 

control there 10 March 194?, although in violation of 

treaties r.nd assurances (Exhibits Nos. 662， 664). 

While thG aggressions against China were 

going on in Manchuria, he v/as Councillor of the 

Embassy and Consul-General in China --1930-1934; 

then oftcr the aggression in Manchuria was a "fait 

accompli" he becarao Councillor to the Bon.rd of 

Manchurian Affairs 一一 1935-1936, and thereafter was 

decorated for services in the China "Affair." 

(Page 337 of the sumnary 一 一 of the narrative summary). 

During the crucial period, 1936-1938, when 

it was essential to keep the USSR quiet while further 

territory of China w<?.s seized, he was there as Ambassa-

dor. Then 1938-1941 he was Ambassador to Great Britain 

y/I ring back to Japan advocating further aggression in 

Southeast Asia against the weak powers. Ho was part 

and parcel of the conspiracy to w?.ge a war of aggres-

sion from 1931 on. 

He becr.me a member of the governmont as 

Foreign Minister 20 April 1943 and continued as such 

unty. 7 April 1945. To protests about the mistreatment 
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of POW and violation of treaties and assurances he 
l 

turned a deaf ear. He delayed responses to, he 
2 

denied, hTi treated with contempt, and he lied about 
3 

the protests from the United States and Britain, 

5 j submitted through Switzerland, the protecting power. 

6 He cannot now bo permitted to hide behind such a 

， d e f e n s e as that submitted in his motion that the 
7 | 

8
 1 Army "misinformed him.” He was responsible for per-

9 ！ mitting to continue tho violations of treaties and 

1 0 ： assurances and the customs and laws of war. As 

n Foreign Miniator it was his duty to see that Japan 

11 \ abided by her treaties and assurances„ He failed in 

13 ； his duty, either through wilful ignorance or design; 

14 | the evidonce points to the latter. 
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I am told there are two mistakes that I have 

made in the reading of that, your Honor. 

In the first place, when 8HIGEMITFU was 

appointed Ambassador in China, it was not to the 

Republic of China, it was to the China puppet govern-

ment, That was in 1941， February 1941. 

7 | The other is whon I said he was decっrated 

8 丨 for SOI-T in China I gave a REFERENCE to the narrative 

9 s u m r a a : I i should be to the c h r o nつ丄て . s u m m a r y 

1 0 : which yoj iiic oiilj? n o m i n g and on wnlch you will see 

1 1 the exhibii; humber O'-ncemed,, 

f-'HIMDA 

The particulars with regard to him are on page 

I .338 of the summary. The only additional document 
I 

specially relating to hin is exhibit 2248. 

Tho defendant トHIMADA joined the Navy in the 

year 1901 when 18 years of age, and remained in that 

servj ce as an active officer until January 1945. It 

is probably unnecessary to refer to his career prior 

to the ypar 1929 excepting to point out that his promotion 

up to that tine hnd been fairly rapid and that for a 

period during the first Worli War he served as a 

Naval Attache in Italy. In 1929 he was promoted to the 

rank of Rear Admiral and fron that year onwards he held 

increasingly important appointments and received 
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nucfirous honors and awards. He was at various tines 

associated with the Naval Generalトtaff and was Vice-

Chipf in 1935. Among the appointments held by hira 

wpre th^se of membership of the Investigation Council 

of National Resources and of the Naval Preparedness 

Board of f'uprerae Hpadquarters. He received awards in 

1934 for his services in connection with the 1931-

34 war, in 1938 for his services in connection with the 

Anti-Comintern Pact, and in 194-0 for his services in 

the China War 4 It is suggested that thr award to a 

naval officer for his services in connection with the 

Anti-Comintern Pact has special significance. He was 

promoted to the rank of Admiral in November 1940. 

The defendant held no political office until 

he became Naval Minister and Vice-President of the 

China Affairs Board in the TOJO Cabinet formed in 

October 194-1. He continued to hold the appointment 

of Naval Minister until July 1944 and from February 

to August 1944 he was chi^f of thp Naval General Ftaff. 

In August 194-4 ho was appointed to the f-'upreme War 

Council. 

It will be rpcallod that the Imperial Conference 

of 6th fepteraber 1941 had decided on war if by early-

October the negotiations with the United states were 

not successfully concluded (Transcript page 10,2ヲ2)， 
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and early in October the Supreme Command Group stated 

that they would not wait beyond the 15th October 

(Ibid). When the time carae the then Naval Minister 

OIKA.WA while refusing a definite opinion was prepared 

to leave tho decision to KONOYE who wished the negotiations 

to continue, and would net support TOJO who contended 

that th^re was no hope of a diplomatic success and that 

war was inevitable. (Transcript pages 10,246 and 

10272). The KONOYE Cabinet accordingly resigned on the 

16th October (Transcript page 10,285) and on the 18th 

October TOJO forrard a new cabinet In which bHIMADA 

became Navy Minister in the place of 0IKA.WA. 

Wnnn KIDO had procured the appointment of 

TOJO ho also delivered to him and OIKAWA messages in 

the name of the Emperor ordering that agreement should 

be reached betwepn thp Army and Nivy (Exhibit 2250). 

As the new premier was the Arny Minister the only-

possible conclusion was that a new Navy Minister must 

be chosen who would agree with TOJO. IrHIIIADA was chosen. 

It is submitted that the evidence shows that 

in addition to ^ H I M D A carrying out his duties as Navy 

23 Minister and a member of the cabinet, he attended the 

24 numerous Liaison Ccnfor^ncps which were hold after 

25 , TOJO bpcamo Premirr, and also the Imperial Conferences 

I hnld on 5th November and 1st Decoraber, As regards 
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the Liaison Conferences exhibit 1103 shows that in 

respect of the period to tho end of Juno 1941 the 

Navy Minister was present at every conference excepting 

one and on this occasion the Vice-Minister attended. 

It must be inferred that the Navy Minister continued 

to attend the conferences held from October onwards. 

I Exhibit 1163, Transcript page 10,316, strongly supports 

,this. This document is a telegram sent by TOGO to 

NOMURA on 2nd Naveraber and states that "sincp the 

formation of the new cabinet, the government has been 

holding confprences for a number of days with the 

Imperial Headquarters". The irresistible conclusion 

is that as an important member of the government the 

Navy Minister was present. 

As regards the Imperial Conferences, the 

attendance cf the defendant is established by Exhibit 

1107. 

It will be recalled that these conferences 

were concerned with the negotiations with the U.に 

and the policy to be adopted towards the U.6., Great 

Britain and the Netherlands, They show throughout that 

it was intended to go to war with these countries, 

241 the final decision being made at the Imperial Conference 

25 '； on 1st December when it was decided to open hostilities 

(Transcript page 10,519). 
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Plans and preparations for war against these 

countries had been formulated and rxecuted for several 

vpars. In particular, plans had been adopted in June 

1937 w M c h had as their object the achieving by the 

year 1941 not only the raaxir. am production of equipment 

and supplies npepssary for waging the wars but also the 

maximuin potential for future rnaximura pmduction. To 

carry out these plans, steps vjere taken to bring about 

national self-sufficiency at a cost which norraal 

lepitl.nate pnt^rprise would not ；justify。 In order 

that Japan could wage war it became in substance a 

totalitarian state and abandoned normal economic standards: 

substituting an economy which was "based solely on her 

schomps for expansion and dominatiorD» The evidence of 

Mr. Liebert and the documents produced by hin show In 

detail the nature of these production, economic and 

financial plans, the extent to which they were realized 
J 

I and the controls that were exercised and the other 

| methods employed to givp effect to them. 

But therp was not only economic planning and 

preparation for war. In addition there were military 

and naval preparations which were directed towards the 

;same end ? namely the wars intended to be waged against 

any country which opposed Japan 1s schemes for domination 

and expansion« 
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For example the evidence established that 

in violation cf treaty obligations, Japan's mandated 

islands wore secretly fortified over a period of several 

years prior to Deceobpr 1941, and it is submitted that 

these fortifications were an essential part of the 

plans and preparations for aggressive war. It is also 

submitted that the Tribunal should draw the inference 

that the defendant was well aware of the fortifications 

and of their object. 

It is submitted that the defendant joined the 

TOJO Cabinet because he was, and was known to b e , an 

active supporter cf th^ TOJO policy and that his par-

ticipation 5.n the conspiracy prior to October 194-1, 

must be infprrpd from his ；)o3.ninp the cabinet at that 

juncture. It is also submitted that the award made 

to hin in 1938 for his services in connection with the 

Anti-C^rnintprn Pact is further proof of his participa-

tion in the conspiracy at that time. 

However, whatever part t-HILIADA took in theso 

natters before hp joinr-d the TOJO Cabinet and even if 

it be assumed that hf? took none, by his ；joining tijat 

Cabinet and by his subsequent actions he adopted all 

that had been done, and lent his assistance to the 

furtherance of the aggressive plans. 

ぐHIMADA has adr^.ittpd that hf knew that YALiAMOTO 
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had prpparod his plan for the attack early in 194-1 

and that the plan was adopted In May or June. (Trans-

cript page 10,194). He also admitted that ho knew that 

oarly in 194-1 the Navy commenced the development cf 

a shallow water torpedo because the water at Pearl 

Harbor was shallow and that the fleet practised the usr 

of this torpedo during the summer of 194-1 (Ibid). 

On セhp 5th November 1941 NAGANO (Chief of the Naval 

General Ftaff) issued the first ordpr for the putting 

into oxecution cf the YAMAMOTO plan (Transcript page 

10,34-7) •ド.ocn after that date an ordor was issued 

that X-day, the dav of the opening of hostilities, 

should bo 8th Dpcenber (Exhibit 809, page 11).トHII'iAM 

kneyr that the task forc^ fcr the attack noved on セhe 

27th November (Transcript page 10,422). 

The evidence shows that in addition to 

FHI狐DA taking part in the Cabinet noetings and confer-

ences , he performed various acts and had various 

matters referred to him as Navy Minister which had 

direct.reference to the war preparations. For example, 

in November 1941 he authorized expenditure from the 

special "War Expenditure Account" (Transcript, page 

854-2) , and his approval was sought at the end of 

October 1941 for the issue of military currency notes 

for use in the countries intended to be attacked 
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i！ (Transcript, pape 8446). 

Special significance raust be given to 

,:KIDO's statement that the Emperor on 30 November 
3 

4 1941 on his advice consulted 8 H I M D A and the Chief 

5 of Naval General Staff with regard to a suggestion 
i 

that the Navy wished to avoid war, and that they 

having answered the Bnperor's question with consider-

able confidence, the Emperor had instructed KIDO to 

tell the Premier to proceed as planned (Transcript, 

page 10,468 and page 12,480). 

The defendant was a signatory to the 

ImiDerial Reacript declaring war (Transcript, page 

l©,68b) and as Navy Minister he reported to the 

inquiry committee meeting of the Privy Council 

concerning the declaration of war which was held at 

7^3© o'clock on the morning of 8th December 194-1 

(Transcript, page 10,690). 

This support of the policy of aggression 

and expansion is clearly shown in the speech made by 

him at a Diet conraittee meeting on 10 February 194-2 

when he strongly advocated expansion and Japan's 

leadership in Greater East Asia and the elimination 

of any element not conforaing to the Japanese will 

(Transcript, page 16,183, Exhibit 2248). 

That he was a politician as well as a naval 
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； o f f i c e r is shown by Exhibit 1273, vjhere KIDO records 

_丨 that it was he who in Feptember 1942 persuaded TOGO 
1 I 
_ : to resign rather than break up the cabinet over his 
o I 
I 

4
 1 dissatisfaction with the formation of the new Greater 

5 ： East Asia Ministry. 
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It is also to be observed that SHIMADA was 

a member of the Imperial Rule Association Political 

Society and that when in June 1944 the reorganization 

of the Cabinet was under consideration, including a 

change of Navy Minister, TOJO according to KIDO's 

diary (Exhibit 1277， Transcript, page 11,376) sug-

gested tho advisability of SHIMADA being appointed 

Welfare Minister in order to have a member of ナhat 

society in the Cabinet, 

The general reasons why wo submit he must 

be held responsible for war atrocities have already 

been given, and in addition the following comments 

should be made. The evidence shows that copies of 

the complaints lodged by the Swiss Legation were :」 

sent by the Foreign Ministry to the Navy Ministry 

(Evidence of SUZUKI, Tadakatsu, Transcript, page 15，5〇6 

and following pages， and Exhibits 2170, 2173， 2174). 

It is also submitted that the Navy Minister must bo 

hold responsible for the top secret naval order for 

submarine operations (Exhibit 2105, Transcript, page 

15，184) requiring the complete destruction of the 

crews of the ships sunk by submarines, particularly 

as OSHIMA has stated that this was the German policy 

and that after discussions with Ribbentrop the German 

policy was communicated to the Japanese Naval Attache 



16,910 

at Berlin (Exhibit 2106， Transcript, pages 1ヲ，186， 

15,195). 
THE PRESIDENT: We will adjourn until half-

past nine tomorrow morning. 

(Whereupon, at 1600, an adjournment 

was taken until Friday, 31 January 1947, at 

0930). 


